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Scope of the AnnUAL report
sanlam Africa core Real estate investments limited (“sAcReil” or the “company”) is  pleased to present 
its fourth Annual Report. While this report is addressed primarily to the providers of financial capital to the 
company, it includes relevant information for our other stakeholders, and is aimed at providing stakeholders 
with an understanding of the company’s strategic objectives, performance, risks and governance.  
the information included in this report has been provided in accordance with the code of corporate governance 
for mauritius (“the code”), international Financial Reporting standards (“iFRs”), the mauritian companies Act, 
2001, the mauritian securities Act, 2005, and the stock exchange of mauritius (“sem”) listing Rules.

the annual report contains, amongst other things, information extracted from the documents that govern the 
company, including the company’s constitution and investment charter. extracts, by their nature, contain 
summarised information and therefore the documents themselves should be studied to have a full appreciation 
of their content. While every effort has been made to ensure consistency between the annual report and the 
documents governing the company, in the event of any inconsistency the documents governing the company 
shall prevail.
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sAcReil is A 
lOng-teRm 
inVestOR in 
cOmmeRciAl 
ReAl estAte in 
sub-sAHARAn 
AFRicA

cOmPAnY  
profiLe
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While sAcReil was incorporated 
in mauritius in April 2012, its first 
capital contribution of substance 
was received on the commencement 
Date, 2 may 2013, when sanlam 
Africa Real estate Advisor Proprietary 
limited (“sAReA” or the “Advisor”) 
subscribed for usD10 million of the 
class b shares of the company. 
the first capital contributions were 
received from the initial class A 
shareholders in the middle of may 
2013 and the class A shares of the 
company were listed on the stock 
exchange of mauritius (“sem”) on 
16 may 2013.

sAcReil is a long-term investor in 
commercial real estate in selected 
countries in sub-saharan Africa 
(“ssA”) and was established at a time 
when the real estate sector across 
most parts of the African continent 
was beginning to show strong signs 
of development. the sector in most 
countries had been constrained for 
many years due to a lack of both 
equity capital and debt funding.

Although access to equity 
capital and debt funding remains 
challenging, the access has 
improved over the last number of 
years as new participants have 
entered the market. sAcReil has 
positioned itself to take advantage 
of the growth opportunities in ssA 
within a framework outlined in its 
constitution and investment charter.

sAcReil provides a platform for 
sophisticated investors to access its 
chosen investment universe. these 
investors understand the complexities 
and risks inherent in the business of 
sAcReil, where investments span 
multiple countries with differing legal, 
tax and regulatory environments that 
have to be considered – in addition 
to the asset specific commercial 
considerations. the company has 
no limit on the size to which it may 
grow, the number of shareholders 
it may have and its term, apart 
from the condition related to the 
minimum gross Asset Value (“gAV”) 
of usD750 million by 31 December 
2020. While the company aims to 
increase its gAV to a level that will 
promote the liquidity of its class A 
shares in terms of its constitution, 
if at 31 December 2020 the gAV of 
the company is less than usD750 
million, class A shareholders can 
elect to request the sale of their 
shareholding in the company. 
should a shareholder or shareholders 
elect this option the company will 
have 24 months to attempt to effect 
the liquidation of the shareholding 
through a replacement of investor or 
through a disposal of the underlying 
assets.

cOmPAnY bAcKgROunD
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StrAteGy
sAcReil targets the acquisition of 
completed commercial property 
assets with sustainable and growing 
income streams, and assumes limited 
development risk. Political, economic 
and social risks are evaluated and 
responded to appropriately during 
the investment lifecycle. sAcReil 
aims to provide an attractive usD 
return to its investors, including the 
declaration of semi-annual dividends. 
Projected capital growth for investors 
is driven by net income growth and 
possible yield contraction, while 
the nAV of the company has the 
physical underpin of the investment 
properties themselves. market 
conditions, including changes in 
sovereign borrowing rates and 
market rental levels, will have an 
impact on asset values.

sAcReil’s investment strategy 
and approach is set out in its 
investment charter, which contains 
the guiding criteria for the selection 
of investments. sAcReil’s objective 
is to maximise its total return, in 
a manner that is consistent with 
a diversified, risk-managed real 
estate portfolio of investments. 
the total return includes both 
income distributions and capital 
appreciation.

in terms of sAcReil’s constitution, 
distributions are set at a minimum 
of 90% of Available cash, which 
is defined as the profits earned by 
sAcReil less the profits resulting 
from the revaluation of investment 
properties (adjusted for any 
deferred tax implications of those 
revaluations). 

in order to optimise returns, 
sAcReil makes use of gearing. 
the investment charter sets out a 
targeted level of gearing of between 

40% and 45% of gAV, with an 
absolute gearing level limit of 50% 
(which may be exceeded for a limited 
period not exceeding 12 months). 
the gearing level is computed by 
dividing sAcReil’s effective share 
of third-party loans (ie excluding 
shareholder loans), within sAcReil’s 
corporate structure, by the gAV 
(which is sAcReil’s aggregate 
effective share of the value of the 
investment properties).

in order to mitigate concentration 
risk, diversification is imposed in 
the investment charter as follows:

•	sAcReil’s effective share in any 
single investment property may not 
exceed 35% of the total gAV.

•	no more than 45% of the total 
gAV may be invested in a single 
country.

•	sectoral targets are set as a 
percentage of gAV as follows:

 – Retail – 55% to 65%.
 – Office – 25% to 35%.
 – industrial – 5% to 15%.

it should be noted that the 
diversification requirements 
listed above are only effective 
once sAcReil reaches a gAV 
of usD500 million.

the current countries in which real 
estate investments may be made are: 
Angola, botswana, ghana, Kenya, 
malawi, mauritius, mozambique, 
nigeria, tanzania, uganda, Zambia 
and Zimbabwe.

inveStmentS
At 31 December 2016, sAcReil 
had interests in Accra mall and land 
adjacent to Accra mall, in Accra, 
ghana; capital Properties, in Dar 
es salaam, tanzania; and Atlantic 
House, in lagos, nigeria.

cOmPAnY stRAtegY  
AnD OPeRAting mODel

SectorAL DiverSificAtion
percentage of GaVSectorial diversification

37%
Retail

63%
Office

GeoGrAphicAL DiverSificAtion
percentage of GaVGeographic diversification

27%
Nigeria

36%
Tanzania

37%
Ghana

sAcReil tARgets 
cOmPleteD 
cOmmeRciAl 
PROPeRtY 
Assets WitH 
sustAinAble 
incOme stReAms
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operAtinG moDeL
sAcReil does not have any 
employees and its affairs are 
conducted by its board of Directors 
(“board”). As the company invests, 
holds and disposes of real estate 
investments in selected countries 
in ssA, decisions in this regard 
are made by the board following 
consideration by the investment 
committee. given this construct, 
sAcReil has appointed third-party 
service providers to assist it.

the company has appointed 
sanlam Africa Real estate Advisor 
as its Advisor in terms of an Advisory 
Agreement whereby sAReA 
provides Advisory services to the 
company. the Advisory services 
include, inter alia, the identification 
and recommendation (following 
appropriate due diligence) of 
investments to the company for 
its consideration, advice on the 
company's capital structure and 
providing governance oversight, 
monitoring and reporting on the 
management of the company's 
investments. 

to align the Advisor with sAcReil’s 
goals of growing its gAV and 
delivering attractive returns to 
investors, the following arrangements 
govern the advisory relationship:

•	sAReA is paid an Advisory fee 
which is a set percentage of 
sAcReil’s average gAV.

•	 to align sAReA with the investors 
in the class A shares of sAcReil, 
sAReA was required to invest in, 
and retain, the class b shares of 
sAcReil. the class b shares have 
the same risk/return profile as the 
class A share in terms of value and 
distributions.

to further cement the alignment with 
class A shareholders, the class b 
shareholder qualifies for an Additional 
Dividend if certain return hurdles 
are met. this Additional Dividend is 
subject to forfeiture if required returns 
are not sustained.

sAcReil has appointed 
intercontinental trust limited (“itl”) 
to provide Administration services 
in terms of an Administration 
Agreement. itl earns agreed upon 
fees for providing Administration 
services.

Sacreil

50% 100% 100% 100%

petrostar limited

100%

accra mall limited lousol properties limited capital properties 
limited 

accra mall (mauritius)
limited

lousol properties  
mauritius 

Sacreil oddlot  
Holdings limited 

amani place
properties limited

94% 1% 99%100%



PROPeRtY PORtFOliO

olympio Agbodza, Accra mall 
centre manager

AccrA mALL, 
gHAnA

retAiL

mAjor tenAntS incLUDe: 
sHOPRite, gAme, mR PRice

effective ShArehoLDinG:

47%

inDepenDent vALUAtion: 

USD110.76m
(excluding vacant land $10.5m)

GroSS LettABLe AreA

21,384m2

tHe Asset HAs 
cOntinueD 
PeRFORming 
Well in A 
DiFFicult 
mARKet

Sanlam Africa core real estate investments Limited
Annual Report 2016
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AccrA mALL, 
GhAnA
Accra mall is currently the second 
largest shopping centre in Accra, 
ghana measuring 21,384m².  
the centre is located at a key main 
road intersection in, arguably, the 
most affluent part of the city.  
the centre is predominantly a single 
level structure – with an upper level 
housing the cinema complex and a 
small area for other retail as well as  
a basement area housing 
management offices and parking. 
the centre is anchored by major 
retailers, shoprite and game.

finAnciAL DetAiL

the summarised financial information 
relating to Accra mall is as follows:

•	Accra mall is owned by Accra 
mall limited (“Aml”), a company 
domiciled in ghana. Aml is 93.94% 
held by Accra mall (mauritius) 
limited (“Amml”), a company 
domiciled in mauritius, which is 
50% held by sAcReil.

•	Aml also owns a vacant piece of 
land adjacent to Accra mall and 
100% of Petrostar limited which, in 
turn, owns another vacant piece of 
land adjacent to the mall.

•	Accra mall was independently 
valued at usD110.76 million as at 
31 December 2016, which value 
includes the amount invested in 
the initial minor expansion and the 
refurbishment of the food court, 
referred to below.

•	 third-party debt in respect of the 
asset consists of a third-party loan 
to Aml of usD2.24 million and a 
third party loan of usD14.2 million 
to Amml. sAcReil’s effective 
share of the third-party debt 
amounts to usD8.2 million.

•	Accra mall's trading conditions 
have remained largely resilient, 
with only a marginal impact on 
operations from the economic 
downturn being experienced 
in ghana.

tenAncy overvieW

the tenancy history has been stable 
over the past financial year, with 
limited changes. the expansion 
of the mall has allowed new blue-
chip tenants to get space in the 
mall and several new brands have 
opened up. A new 10-year lease 
with shoprite was concluded during 
the year, which agreement included 
the renovation of the shoprite 
space. this renovation project was 
well underway at year-end and will 
be completed by mid-2017.

ASSet optimiSAtion 

Optimising the asset is primarily 
achieved through ensuring that the 
centre remains in high demand for the 
local consumer, as well as retailers. 
this involves a strategy to provide a 
tenant mix and shopping experience 
in line with what appeals to the local 
shopper. 

Any significant expansion of the mall 
will happen at an appropriate time 
on the two parcels of adjacent land 
which were acquired in 2014.

During 2015 the food court was 
refurbished and an additional 
entrance was added to the mall 
through the new food court area. 
this area has been performing 
well and has contributed to the 
performance of the mall. Further 
development, included the 
replacement of the sewerage 
treatment Plant (“stP”) with a larger 
plant and this construction permitted 
additional lettable area being added 
to the mall.

property mAnAGement

the property management function 
is performed by broll ghana. 
Key responsibilities include 
day-to-day property management, 
tenancy management and 
financial accounting.
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PROPeRtY PORtFOliO  

(cOntinueD)

meja elisha and crey Kulumula, 
capital Properties Property 
managers

cApitAL propertieS, 
tAnZAniA

tHe tenAncY 
HistORY OF 
tHe PROPeRtY 
HAs been VeRY 
stAble, WitH 
FeW cHAnges tO 
tHe Rent ROll 
OVeR A numbeR 
OF YeARs

officeS

mAjor tenAntS incLUDe: 
bARclAYs bAnK, cOmmeRciAl bAnK 
OF AFRicA, FiRst nAtiOnAl bAnK

effective ShArehoLDinG:

100%

inDepenDent vALUAtion: 

USD55.47m

GroSS LettABLe AreA

20,962m2
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cApitAL propertieS, 
tAnzAniA 
through capital Properties limited 
(“cPl”), a company domiciled in 
tanzania, sAcReil owns three office 
towers, and an associated car park, 
located in Dar es salaam, tanzania. 
the total glA of the three towers 
amounts to approximately 20,962m² 
and is multi-tenanted.

finAnciAL DetAiL 

the summarised financial information 
relating to cPl is as follows:

•	sAcReil effectively owns 100% of 
capital Properties limited through 
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Amani 
Place Properties limited ("APPl"), 
a company domiciled in mauritius.

•	 the properties owned by cPl 
were independently valued 
at usD55.47 million as at 
31 December 2016.

•	 the third-party debt in respect of 
the asset consists of a loan to cPl 
of usD17.5 million.

tenAncy overvieW

the tenancy history of the property 
has been very stable, with few 
changes to the rent roll over a 
number of years. the largest tenant is 
barclays bank, which has a 10-year 
lease until 2022.

ASSet optimiSAtion

the three office towers, are known 
as Amani Place, Fnb House and 
barclays House with Amani Place 
being the largest tower with a lettable 
area of 11,726m2. 

Amani Place is the newest building 
in the portfolio having been built 
approximately six years ago, and as 
a result, still has a specification which 
is up to date. 

barclays House is a comparatively 
older building but underwent a 
significant renovation in 2007 and its 
specification remains acceptable at 
this stage.

Fnb House is the oldest asset 
in the portfolio. During 2016, the 
refurbishment of the building 
commenced. this project 
will be complete Q3 – 2017. 
the refurbishment is intended to 
maintain the value of the asset and 
to enhance the tenant experience. 
the refurbishment will be funded 
from cPl's internal resources. 

property mAnAGement

the property management function 
is performed by Knight Frank 
tanzania. Key responsibilities include 
day-to-day property management, 
tenancy management and financial 
accounting.
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Gift okanigbuan, Atlantic House 
building manager

AtLAntic hoUSe, 
nigeRiA

officeS

mAjor tenAntS incLUDe: 
inteRnAtiOnAl FinAnce 
cORPORAtiOn, ciscO

effective ShArehoLDinG:

100%

inDepenDent vALUAtion: 

USD40.5m

GroSS LettABLe AreA

4,271m2

tRADing 
cOnDitiOns 
cOntinue tO 
be eXtRemelY 
DiFFicult 
AltHOugH it 
DOes APPeAR 
tHAt tHe 
ecOnOmY, 
WHilst unDeR 
cOntinuing 
PRessuRe, is 
stAbilising 
AnD mAY gROW 
mARginAllY 
in 2017

PROPeRtY PORtFOliO  

(cOntinueD)
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AtLAntic hoUSe, 
niGeriA
through lousol Properties limited 
(“lPl”), a company domiciled in 
nigeria, sAcReil owns an office 
tower in lagos, nigeria. Atlantic 
House was constructed 16 years 
ago as a four-storey office building. 
An additional two floors were added 
in 2005. the building offers A grade 
accommodation. the total glA of  
the office block is 4,271m2 and is 
multi-tenanted.

finAnciAL DetAiL

the summarised financial information 
relating to lPl is as follows:

•	sAcReil effectively owns 100% of 
lousol Properties limited through 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely 
lousol Properties mauritius (“lPm”) 
and sAcReil Oddlot Holdings 
limited (“sOHl”), companies 
domiciled in mauritius.

•	 the property owned by lPl 
was independently valued at  
usD40.5 million as at  
31 December 2016.

•	 third-party debt in respect of 
the asset consists of a loan to lPl  
of usD20.38 million as at  
31 December 2016.

tenAncy overvieW

As this is a relatively small building, 
the number of tenants is small. 
most of the tenants have been 
in occupation for several years 
and include large multinational 
organisations. the international 
Finance corporation is the largest 
tenant, occupying 1,037m2 over  
two floors.

ASSet optimiSAtion 

in 2015, the lagos property market 
came under significant pressure, 
with a rapid decrease in rental rates 
and an increasing amount of vacant 
space, particularly due to new 
developments becoming available. 
Further, primarily due to economic 
concerns, few tenants were looking 
to move, upgrade or increase their 
occupied space, resulting in a 
shallow new tenant pool. these 
market pressures continued in 2016 
and are anticipated to continue into 
2017. As a result, the vacancies 
in the building have remained 
stubbornly high at 34% (1,467 m2), 
of which 722m2 has remained vacant 
since acquisition. the marketing 
of the vacant space has been 
reviewed and the tenant occupation 
experience has been improved. 
During 2016 the common areas of the 
building underwent a refurbishment 
in order to improve the occupier 
experience.

property mAnAGement

the property management function 
is performed by broll ghana. 
Key responsibilities include 
day-to-day property management, 
tenancy management and 
financial accounting.
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tHe RegiOn’s lOng-
teRm gROWtH 
PROsPects RemAin 
cOmPelling. 
tHe ecOnOmic 
cOnteXt OF 
AFRicA cReAtes 
tHe DRiVeRs 
FOR incReAsing 
DemAnD FOR 
gOODs, seRVices 
AnD RentAble 
AReA

ReVieW  
of 2016
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overvieW
Over the past few decades, the 
covers of time magazine have 
contained headline grabbing 
descriptions of Africa, with a 
particular focus on its challenges  
and prospects: “Africa’s Woes”  
(16 January 1984); “the Agony of 
Africa” (7 september 1992) and, 
more recently, “Africa Rising”  
(30 march 1998). these headlines 
have often been used to define our 
continent as a lost continent, with 
insurmountable issues and limited 
prospects. but, does the bleak 
picture represent the whole continent, 
the 54 different countries, its  
1.2 billion people spread out over 
its 30 million square kilometres of 
landmass the Africa?

Perception, generalisation, 
over-simplification and poor or 
miscommunication ignore the reality 
of the culturally rich and diverse 
nations across the continent, 
nations which have grown out of 
war into united nations with strong 
democracies and rule of law. 
the growing economies, improving 
infrastructure, technological 
innovation, significant foreign direct 
investment, substantial urbanisation, 
improving income per capita and a 
growing middle class will ultimately 
translate into long-term economic 
upswing for the continent. Africa  
is rising.

there is no doubt that many of the 
countries are currently experiencing 
economic headwinds, but these 

are shorter termed and cyclical in 
nature. the region’s long-term growth 
prospects remain compelling when 
compared to the marginal levels of 
growth currently being experienced 
in the developed world. We do not 
believe that these cyclical headwinds 
have altered the longer term trend 
of real economic growth on the 
continent.

the economic context of Africa 
creates the drivers for increasing 
demand for goods, services and 
rentable area.

economic cLimAte  
AnD oUtLooK
the existence of economic 
cycles is well documented and 
certain economies in the region 
are undoubtedly under pressure. 
some of the reasons for this 
economic slowdown are country-
specific, while others are more 
macroeconomic and influenced 
by world events.

Of most concern is the nigerian 
economy. the now structurally 
lower oil price has affected the oil 
producing economies, with the effect 
being particularly strongly felt in 
nigeria, and this economy officially 
slipped into recession during 2016. 
trading conditions continue to be 
extremely difficult, although it does 
appear that the economy, while under 
continuing pressure, is stabilising and 
should grow marginally in 2017.

cHAiRmAn’s RePORt

Anil currimjee, chairman of  the board
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cHAiRmAn’s RePORt (cOntinueD)

the outlook for ghana looks positive 
and economists are projecting 
growth of 6.3% in 2017 (2016: 
3.6%). During 2016, there was a 
peaceful transition of power after 
largely peaceful general elections. 
notwithstanding this positive outlook 
for the economy, the real effects of 
the challenges experienced in 2015 
are still having a lingering impact 
on the individual businesses, albeit 
reducing.

the tanzanian economy continues 
to grow at a steady rate of around 
7% year-on-year and is projected 
to continue growing at this rate into 
2017.

the number of assets in the sAcReil 
portfolio remained unchanged 
in 2016, with no acquisitions or 
disposals. currently, the portfolio 
consists of three office towers in 
Dar es salaam, tanzania, an office 
tower in lagos, nigeria, and an 
effective 47% stake in a retail mall in 
Accra, ghana. given the respective 
economic environments in which our 
assets operate, we are satisfied with 
the operational performance of the 
company’s portfolio, with all assets 
receiving due attention from sAReA, 
the Advisor to sAcReil. the portfolio 
is currently underweight retail assets 
in favour of office assets, as the latter 
offer more stable returns in the near 
term. We expect this underweight 
allocation to retail assets to correct in 
the medium term, as more potential 
investments, which are currently 
in the development phase, are 
completed. in most African countries, 
retail development is starting from 
a very low base and there are an 

increasing number of retail malls 
being developed across the region. 
given the favourable, projected 
consumer demographics of the 
region, it is expected that, over time, 
the portfolio is likely to be dominated 
by retail assets.

Furthermore, the company remains 
focused on diversifying the portfolio 
beyond office and retail assets, 
into light industrial and distribution 
centres. these opportunities remain 
scarce in the countries in which 
the company operates, although 
indications from developers across 
the continent are that this sector 
is receiving greater attention as 
opportunities become available.

the business case for sAcReil 
remains attractive and we continue 
to investigate opportunities both in 
the countries in which the company 
currently operates, as well as those 
where we have a strong knowledge 
of the local operating environment. 
During 2016, sAReA considered 
15 investment opportunities in detail, 
submitted nine expressions of interest 
and submitted one prospective 
investment through a comprehensive 
due diligence investigation, during 
which it was determined that the 
opportunity was not appropriate for 
the company.

Despite some of the cyclical 
headwinds alluded to, the people of 
Africa continue to move forward and 
sAcReil continues to participate in, 
contribute to and benefit from this 
forward momentum.

corporAte GovernAnce 
AnD riSK mAnAGement
During the year, Peter cook retired 
as a director, we welcomed three 
new directors to the board in Keith 
Jefferis, cyril Wong and Kobus 
möller. each of our new directors 
has extensive experience in finance 
and investment. they were all also 
appointed to the Audit and Risk 
management committee, alongside 
Yan ng.

sAcReil continues to ensure its 
compliance with the mauritian code 
of corporate governance (the 
“code”) as required by the stock 
exchange of mauritius. the Audit and 
Risk management committee has 
played a significant role in sAcReil’s 
compliance with the code thus far. 
the committee has also continued 
to play a pivotal role in monitoring 
risks and ensuring that the company 
meets its objectives.

AcKnoWLeDGementS
i would like to once again thank the 
Advisor, the Administrator, the board, 
the Audit and Risk management 
committee members and the 
investment committee members 
for their dedication, hard work and 
continued support for the company 
over 2016.

Anil currimjee
chairman of  the Board
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ADVisOR’s RePORt

overvieW
December 2016 represents the completion of sanlam 
Africa core Real estate investments (sAcReil’s) fourth 
financial year since listing. it was an eventful year with 
many challenges and hurdles, some already overcome 
and some still being resolved. Although sAcReil did 
not achieve all of its goals, including the acquisition 
of additional assets, progress was made on various 
strategic initiatives.

sAcReil’s results for 2016 were shaped by a number 
of country-specific and global macro events that took 
place in 2015 and continued to impact 2016. the slump 
in commodity markets, falling growth expectations and 
sovereign debt burdens contributed to weaker local 
trading conditions in 2016. Added to that were dramatic 
currency devaluations, a collapsing oil price and several 
other negative economic factors that commenced in 2015 
and had a delayed impact on 2016’s results. in spite 
of these significant challenges, sAcReil defended its 
net asset value and was able to release a dividend to 
shareholders.

operAtionAL revieW
Atlantic House is an office tower located in a prime 
area on the water’s edge of Victoria island, lagos. 
the performance of Atlantic House had a notable impact 
on the overall results of sAcReil. increased costs 

carried by the landlord, due to higher vacancies and 
lower demand for office space in lagos, led to a drop in 
net operating income from the property. the weakening 
currency and usD liquidity challenges in nigeria further 
impacted sAcReil’s operations. Atlantic House continues 
to experience significant vacancy levels in a weakening 
nigerian economy. there is also increased competition 
due to a significant increase in lettable office space 
in lagos, with new developments becoming available 
for occupation. these market conditions have resulted 
in a decrease in the market rentals and a reduction in 
the value of the asset to usD40.5 million as at  
31 December 2016 (2015: usD44 million).

capital Properties in tanzania, continued to perform 
well, contributing positively to sAcReil’s overall results. 
the three office towers in Dar es salaam, constituting 
capital Properties, remain prime assets and one of 
the most desired commercial addresses within the 
cbD of Dar es salaam. the towers, comprising a total 
glA of 20,962m², are occupied by strong tenants, 
including barclays bank and First national bank. 
Rental growth in Dar es salaam remains stable with few 
new developments in the pipeline. capital Properties 
currently has a temporarily increased vacancy rate, 
mainly due to the refurbishment of Fnb House which 
is under way and will be completed by mid-2017. the 
operational performance remains in line with expectations 

WHilst liQuiDitY AnD cuRRencY 
RelAteD cHAllenges in ceRtAin 
JuRisDictiOns, mAY RemAin 
FOR sOme time, tHe RegiOnAl 
DiVeRsiFicAtiOn, AnD QuAlitY 
OF tHe PORtFOliO AnD tenAnts, 
PROViDes sOme leVel OF 
Resilience

Gregory chalmers,  
chief  executive Officer of  the Advisor
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and the aggregate independent 
valuation for the three properties 
has increased to usD55.47 million 
as at 31 December 2016 
(2015: usD54.95 million).

Accra mall’s operations performed 
well in difficult market conditions. 
Although some tenants experienced 
lagging pressure on their businesses 
due to the downturn in the ghanaian 
economy in 2015, the foot count in 
the mall increased by an impressive 
27% in 2016. Accra mall continues 
to dominate the retail landscape in 
Accra, notwithstanding the opening 
of several other malls in greater 
Accra. the centre, anchored by 
shoprite and game, two large south 
African retailers, is well located 
in one of the wealthiest parts of 
Accra and in close proximity to 
the international Airport. the asset 
has operated with negligible 
vacancies during the year. the mall 
experienced some challenges 
with rental collection, which 
ultimately affected the distribution 
to sAcReil’s shareholders. 
the property was independently 
valued at 31 December 2016 
as at usD110.8 million 
(2015: usD101.4 million) 
(excluding vacant land at a cost 
of usD10.5 million).

the currencies of ghana and 
tanzania were far more stable in 
2016 compared to 2015, when 
significant currency depreciations 

were experienced. the exception 
is nigeria, where a significant 
devaluation of the naira occurred 
when it was unpegged against the  
us Dollar in June 2016. this 
significant devaluation in currency 
had an impact on sAcReil’s 
operations in nigeria. the company 
is sheltered, to a certain degree, 
from these currency fluctuations 
as the rentals are typically quoted 
and payable in us Dollars, or 
the equivalent in local currency. 
the company’s operations are, 
however, indirectly exposed to the 
performance of the local economies 
through the impact on its tenant’s 
trading conditions as well as any 
local currency receipts from tenants, 
as occurred in nigeria prior to the 
devaluation.

finAnciAL revieW
the overall operating performance 
of sAcReil in 2016 resulted in a 
decrease in the aggregate dividends 
released, from us24.37 cents per 
share in FY2015 to us12.25 cents 
per share, primarily due to the 
performance of Atlantic House 
in challenging macroeconomic 
conditions in nigeria. 
the recessionary conditions, weak 
office space demand, increased 
office space supply, weakening 
currency and usD liquidity 
challenges in nigeria impacted 
sAcReil’s operations.

However, the solid performance of 
the total portfolio resulted in the net 
Asset Value (“nAV”) of the listed 
A shares issued by the company, 
increasing from usD5.6245 as at 
31 December 2015 (net of the final 
FY2015 dividend of usD0.1714 paid 
in April 2016) to usD5.7025 (net of 
the final FY2016 dividend declared in 
march 2017 and paid in April 2017). 
there was a net increase in the 
asset value of the portfolio and the 
company’s gross Asset Value per 
share as at 31 December 2016 was 
usD8.2059 (2015: usD8.1297).

given the current economic 
conditions, the company will likely 
remain conservatively leveraged over 
the medium term. its current gearing 
level is 33% of gross asset value, 
against a long-term targeted gearing 
level of 40 to 45%. As opportunities 
are identified and confidence 
increases, this permits the company 
scope to explore suitably higher 
levels of gearing as well as to fund 
future acquisitions from its own 
internal cash reserves and by raising 
additional capital in the market. it is 
anticipated that sAcReil will need 
to come to market to raise additional 
capital in the foreseeable future.

StrAteGic revieW
sAcReil’s overarching strategy is to 
source, assess, acquire and manage 
quality real estate assets across 
sectors, geographies and countries 
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within sub-saharan Africa. the aim 
is to create the premier portfolio of 
quality commercial, retail and office 
real estate assets, on the African 
continent, delivering investors a us 
dollar-based income yield and longer 
term capital growth.

more specifically, in order to achieve 
these aims, in 2017 sAcReil will 
focus on:

•	 optimising the tenant mix and lease 
expiry profiles of its existing assets 
for the most sustainable income 
streams;

•	 further improving rental collection, 
particularly in Accra mall;

•	 completing the refurbishments 
and improvements of the capital 
Properties buildings and the 
refurbishment of the shoprite 
premises in Accra mall;

•	 identifying smaller bolt-on 
acquisitions where the company 
has existing assets, in order to 
enhance the use of management 
time and operational leverage; and

•	diversifying the portfolio and 
expanding into new countries. 
Opportunities are being assessed 
in ghana, mozambique, Rwanda, 
botswana, Kenya and Zambia.

proSpectS
commodities and regional currencies 
appear to have stabilised and, in 
some cases, strengthened towards 
the end of 2016. the consensus 
growth outlook for the continent is 
improving, with ghana and tanzania 
appearing to be on a positive growth 
trajectory, anticipated to deliver 
6% to 7% gDP growth in 2017. 
nigeria is also forecast to return to 
positive growth territory through 2017.

the poor 2015/2016 economic cycle 
is playing itself out. the upbeat 
consensus forecasts bode well for 
the trading conditions of sAcReil’s 
existing portfolio and are expected to 
offer new acquisition opportunities. 
together these factors are expected 
to allow the company to grow its 
underlying asset value and restore 
dividends to the levels sAcReil 
would prefer, after a difficult 2016. 
there is no doubt that the continent’s 
macroeconomic environment will 
continue to impact sAcReil’s 
operating environment in the coming 
year and trading conditions are 
expected to remain somewhat 
challenging, albeit improved 
from 2016.

the Advisor (sAcReA) is optimistic 
about the prospects for sAcReil for 
2017. Our aim remains to assist the 
company in achieving its objective 
of creating the premier portfolio of 
quality industrial, retail and office 
real estate assets, on the African 
continent.

On behalf of the Advisor, i would 
like to thank the sAcReil board for 
the support over 2016 and we look 
forward to working with the company 
to achieve its objectives in 2017 and 
beyond.

Gregory chalmers
chief  executive officer

sanlam Africa Real estate Advisor
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FinAnciAl ReVieW

overvieW
the class A shares of sAcReil 
were listed on the stock exchange 
of mauritius on 16 may 2013 at an 
initial price of usD5.00 per share. 
the net asset value (nAV) per 
share attributable to the class A 
shareholders over the period since 
listing, is set out in the graph below.

the performance of the diversified 
portfolio resulted in the nAV of 
the listed A shares issued by the 
company, stabilising during 2016 
and trending upwards to end the 
year at usD5.7625 per share at 
31 December 2016. During the 

year under review there was a net 
increase in the gAV of the listed 
A shares from usD8.1297 per share 
at 31 December 2015 to usD8.2059 
per share at 31 December 2016.
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SAcreiL operAtinG profit

based on sAcReil’s effective share of the property investment companies, sAcReil’s 2016 operating profit of 
usD3,736,571 can be analysed as follows:

USD
Accra

mall
Atlantic

house
capital

properties SohL SAcreiL total

income in-country 3,839,711 3,944,549 4,569,006 12,353,266
expenses in-country 881,865 472,009 480,598 1,834,472

net income in-country 2,957,846 3,472,540 4,088,408 – – 10,518,794
Other net income 173,899 (332,286) 46,461 – – (111,927)
mauritian operating costs (30,488) (29,599) (37,424) (23,169) (534,812) (655,492)
Advisory fee – – – – (2,642,011) (2,642,011)
interest expense (637,003) (1,677,341) (1,144,543) – (211,612) (3,670,498)

Operating income before tax 2,464,254 1,433,314 2,952,902 (23,169) (3,388,435) 3,438,866
tax 80,549 42,189 812,105 – – 934,843

Operating profit after tax 2,383,705 1,391,125 2,140,797 (23,169) (3,388,435) 2,504,023

investment property revaluation 4,368,548 (3,500,000) 520,000 – – 1,388,548
tax – – (156,000) – – (156,000)

net revaluation after tax 4,368,548 (3,500,000) 364,000 – – 1,232,548

Operating profit/(loss) 6,752,252 (2,108,875) 2,504,797 (23,169) (3,388,435) 3,736,571
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compUtAtion of DiStriBUtABLe profitS
in terms of the constitution of sAcReil, Available cash is defined as the profit generated by sAcReil less any 
profits attributable to the revaluation of the investment properties (adjusted for any deferred tax implications of those 
revaluations), and is computed as follows:

compUtAtion of DiStriBUtABLe reServeS USD

Profit/(loss) for the year 3,736,571
Revaluation Accra mall (4,368,548)
Revaluation capital Properties (520,000)
Revaluation Atlantic House 3,500,000
Deferred tax impact 156,000

Available cash 2,504,023

interim 2016 distribution 1,164,776

Final 2016 distribution
1,118,185

Aggregate 2016 distribution 2,253,621

Distribution of  Available cash 90.00%

in terms of the sAcReil constitution, the dividend in respect of any period must be at least 90% of Available cash. the 
company complied with this requirement for the 2016 financial year.

revieW of 2016
the company has a quality tenant mix which is well diversified across industry sectors and geographies. the weighted 
average lease term is of the property portfolio is three years.

lease income is primarily earned in usD, or indexed to usD if received in local currencies. Operational expenses and 
taxes are denominated in local currencies. 

the ghanaian cedi and tanzanian shilling were fairly stable against the usD during 2016, compared to 2015, when 
significant currency depreciations were experienced. in nigeria, however, the naira devalued significantly when it was 
unpegged against the usD in June 2016. this devaluation and the lack of liquidity in the nigerian foreign exchange 
markets had a negative impact on sAcReil’s operations in nigeria. 
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the graph below illustrates the volatility and performance of local currencies versus usD in the relevant operating 
countries during 2016:

1
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4

5
USD to NGN '00USD to GHSUSD to TZS '000

31 Dec 1630 Jun 161 Jan 16

the investment properties were revalued as follows:

•	Accra mall was revalued from usD101.4 million as at 31 December 2015 to usD110.76 million as at 31 December 
2016. the vacant land alongside Accra mall continues to be held at cost of usD10.5 million. sAcReil’s effective share 
of Acrra mall, including the vacant land is usD56.9 million. Accra mall continues to perform well in a difficult market.

•	capital Properties was revalued from usD54.95 million as at 31 December 2015 to usD55.47 million as at 31 December 
2016. the operational performance of the building remain in line with expectations. there is currently an increased 
vacancy rate due to the refurbishment of Fnb house.

•	Atlantic House was revalued from usD44 million as at 31 December 2015 to usD40.5 million as at 31 December 2016. 
trading conditions in nigeria continue to be extremely difficult. since the nigerian naira was allowed to float against 
the usD in June 2016, the naira devalued substantially and usD liquidity challenges continue within the foreign 
exchange markets. Vacancies remain high due to increasing competition and the state of the economy.

the gross asset value of the company is sensitive to the independent Valuer’s valuations of the company’s properties, 
which are, in turn sensitive to the valuation parameters used, in particular the discount and reversionary capitalisation 
rates.
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tHe stRengtH OF OuR 
business AcROss AFRicA 
lies in PARtneRsHiPs AnD 
PeOPle.
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bOARD OF DiRectORs  
AnD cOmmittees 

Anil Currimjee 
BA Liberal Arts, MBA (London Business School)
(mauritian, non-executive independent Director)

Anil is a director of one of the largest commercial/business groups in mauritius, namely 
the currimjee group, which has operations and investments in both mauritius and india. 
the currimjee group was established in 1890 with diversified activities in the following clusters: 
telecommunications, media and it; real estate; hospitality and tourism; energy; commerce 
and financial services; and manufacturing, marketing and distribution. He was chairman of 
the mauritius chamber of commerce and industry during 2003 and the chairman of the Joint 
business council mauritius india, since 2004 (mauritius chamber of commerce and industry 
– committee). He was the Honorary consul general of Japan in mauritius until January 2017.

Anil is a director of five other listed companies.

CYril WOnG Sun THiOnG
BSc (Hons), FCA
(mauritian, non-executive independent Director)

cyril is a non-executive director of a number of listed and non-listed companies. cyril was a 
senior executive with barclays bank mauritius limited between 2004 and 2014. before joining 
barclays, cyril was Head of Finance in esso mauritius limited and british American tobacco 
(mauritius).

cyril graduated with First class Honours in Physics from the university of manchester and 
qualified as a chartered Accountant with KPmg in london. He is a Fellow of the institute of 
chartered Accountants in england and Wales and a Fellow of the mauritius institute of Directors.

GreGOrY CHAlmerS
B Comm, LLB, H. Dip. Tax, Admitted Attorney in South Africa
(South african, non-executive Director)

Prior to joining sanlam Africa Real estate Advisor in 2012, greg was the chief investment 
Officer for a private equity fund, with operations and assets (including real estate) in various 
African countries. He has previously been the ceO of a commercial property fund, listed on 
both the Jse and the namibian stock exchange. in addition, greg has 15 years’ investment 
banking experience in m&A, particularly Real estate. Prior to moving into investment banking, 
he practised as an attorney for a period post his admission.

jimnAH mbAru
BCom (Hons), LLB, MBA (IMD), Fellow of the Kenya Institute of Management
(kenyan, non-executive independent Director)

Jimnah is the chairman of Dyer and blair investment bank ltd (Kenya) and Dyer and blair 
investment bank ltd (uganda). He is a well-known investment banker who has spearheaded 
various development phases in the Kenyan and African capital markets at large. 

Jimnah has also served as chairman of the nairobi stock exchange (nse) in 1992 to 2001 
and 2006 to 2008, he was the founder chairman of African stock exchanges Association from 
1993 to 1995 and 1998 to 2000. From 1971 to 80, he worked for the Kenyan government in the 
ministry of commerce and industry. He established Jimba credit corporation in 1980, Kenya 
savings and mortgages in 1983, and union bank of Kenya in 1984. mr mbaru is a director 
of several companies/organisations including financial, insurance, health, policy analysis, 
government and education sectors in Kenya and Africa. 
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YAn CHOnG nG CHenG Hin
BSc (Hons), MSc, FCA, TEP
(mauritian, non-executive Director)

Yan is an executive director of intercontinental trust limited. He specialises in the structuring and 
administration of investment funds and listed companies. He is a board member of a number of funds and 
listed companies in mauritius. He was previously with baker tilly mauritius and Deloitte in luxembourg and 
was trained as a chartered Accountant in london.

He is a fellow member of the institute of chartered Accountants in england and Wales and of the society 
of trust and estate Practitioners. He is an executive committee member of the Association of trust and 
management companies and the international Fiscal Association in mauritius.

Yan graduated from the university of mauritius (bsc (Hons)) with a degree in management and achieved a 
masters in Finance (msc) from lancaster university.

Yan ng is a director of one other listed company.

KObuS möller
BCom (Cum Laude), BCompt (Hons), CA(SA), AMP (Harvard)
(South african, non-executive Director)

Kobus qualified as a chartered Accountant and joined the sanlam group in 1998. He has been the sanlam 
group Financial Director since 2006 up to his retirement in 2016. Prior to that he also held the positions of 
executive Director: Finance and executive Director: Operations of the sanlam Personal Finance division. 
before joining sanlam he was Financial Director of impala Platinum and prior to that held a number of 
financial positions in the gencor group.

Kobus is also a non-executive director of African Rainbow minerals and a number of unlisted sanlam group 
operations.

KeiTH jefferiS
PhD (Economics)
(botswana, non-executive independent Director)

Keith is development macroeconomist and financial sector specialist. He is managing Director of econsult 
botswana (Pty) ltd, and is a former Deputy governor of the bank of botswana. His current activities include 
work on a range of macroeconomic, financial sector and other development policy issues in botswana 
and elsewhere in sub-saharan Africa, for governments, international organisations, and the private sector. 
He has served on the committee of the botswana stock exchange and currently serves on the boards of 
various financial and non-financial entities in botswana, mauritius and nigeria.

jOHAn vAn der merWe 
BCom (Cum Laude), BCom (Hons), MCom Tax, M.Phil Finance (Cambridge), CA(SA)
(South african, non-executive Director)

Johan completed his bcom degree in accounting cum laude from the university of Pretoria. in 1987 he 
completed his bcom (Hons) degree in accounting. He started working at Deloitte & touche and also 
lectured Accounting and Auditing at the university of Pretoria. He passed his qualifying examination for the 
Public Accountants and Auditors board the following year.

He completed his mcom (tax) at the university of Pretoria in 1990 and his mPhil Finance at cambridge in 1991.

in 1991 he moved to gencor’s corporate Finance division. He was one of the core team members who 
helped to finalise the billiton transaction and after its completion he became responsible for corporate 
Finance and tax at billiton. He joined investec Asset management in 1997 as sector Head of sA 
Resources, became head of equities in 1999 and was promoted to global sector Head of Resources 
in April 2000. He was assigned responsibility for the botswana office and for Private equity, and was a 
director and executive committee member of investec Asset management. He joined sanlam investment 
management in July 2002 as ceO. in may 2003, Johan was appointed ceO of the investment cluster 
responsible for all the investment businesses in the sanlam group. From the beginning of 2007 he became 
head of the institutional cluster in the sanlam group. With effect from 31 January 2016, Johan resigned 
from his executive roles within the sanlam group retaining certain non-executive directorships. Johan is 
currently co-ceO of African Rainbow capital.

Johan is a director of two other listed companies.
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bOARD OF DiRectORs  
AnD cOmmittees (cOntinueD)

 Director BoArD
AUDit AnD riSK  

mAnAGement committee

Anil currimjee 4/4 –
gregory chalmers 4/4 –
Yan chong ng cheng Hin 4/4 6/6
Peter cook* 2/2 4/4
Johan van der merwe 3/4 –
Keith Jefferis** 2/2 2/2
cyril Wong sun thiong*** 1/1 1/1
Kobus möller**** 1/1 1/1
Jimnah mbaru 1/4 –

* peter cook retired as director of the company on 1 June 2016.

** Keith Jefferis was appointed as director of the company and chairman of the audit and risk Management committee on 1 July 2016.

***  cyril Wong sun thiong was appointed as director of the company and member of the audit and risk Management committee on 
9 september 2016.

**** Kobus Möller was appointed as director of the company and member of the audit and risk Management committee on 28 october 2016.

AttenDAnce At BoArD AnD committee meetinGS
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RemuneRAtiOn ReVieW

retAiner
 feeS

BoArD 
meetinG

AUDit AnD riSK
 mAnAGement 

committee 
 Director USD USD USD

Anil currimjee  12,000  8,000 –
gregory chalmers  8,000  8,000 –
Yan chong ng cheng Hin1 – –  –
Peter cook2  3,333  4,000  12,000 
Johan van der merwe  8,000  6,000 –
Keith Jefferis3  4,000  4,000  6,000
cyril Wong sun thiong4 2,489  2,000  2,000
Kobus möller5  1,419  2,000  2,000
Jimnah mbaru  8,000  2,000 –

1  Yan chong ng cheng Hin’s remuneration is incorporated into the fees paid by the company to intercontinental trust Limited, sacreiL’s 
administrator.

2 peter cook retired as director of the company on 1 June 2016.

3 Keith Jefferis was appointed as director of the company and chairman of the audit and risk Management committee on 1 July 2016.

4 cyril Wong sun thiong was appointed as director of the company and member of the audit and risk Management committee on 
9 september 2016.

5 Kobus Möller was appointed as director of the company and member of the audit and risk Management committee on 28 october 2016.

6 an amount of $2,109 was paid to t reilly in respect of 2015 directors’ fees. Mr reilly resigned as a director of the company on 5 october 2015.

sAcReil does not have any employees and as such does not have a Remuneration committee. sAcReil has contracts 
with its directors and service providers, the two main ones being sAReA and itl. the fees for each director are set out 
below:
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cORPORAte gOVeRnAnce ReVieW

the board endorses the code of 
corporate practices and conduct 
as set out in the code of corporate 
governance for mauritius (the 
“code”) and has adhered to the code 
except as disclosed in this review. 
there are no material clauses in the 
company's constitution other than 
those disclosed in this annual report, 
although it is important to note that 
the company's constitution and 
investment charter are important 
documents which should be 
understood by all stakeholders.

holding structure

the corporate structure of sAcReil 
is shown on page 3. Various 
companies in the sanlam limited 
(“sanlam”) group of companies 
hold shares in sAcReil which, in 
aggregate, comprised 58.98% of the 
shares of sAcReil as 31 December 
2016. Accordingly sanlam is currently 
the ultimate holding company of 
sAcReil. An analysis of sAcReil’s 
shareholders is shown on page 73, 
including all shareholders holding 
more than 5% of the company.

Dividend policy

sAcReil’s dividend policy is set out 
in its constitution and investment 
charter. A quantity termed Available 
cash is computed as the profit 
earned, for the dividend period under 
consideration, less profits resulting 
from the revaluation of the underlying 
investment properties (adjusted for 
any deferred tax implications of those 
revaluations), in that period. in terms 
of the constitution, at least 90% of 
Available cash must be paid as a 
dividend to the class A and class b 
shareholders. the board will declare 
dividends based on the requirements 
of the constitution and investment 
charter, and always subject to the 
mauritian companies Act.

the Board of Directors

•	 the board comprises four 
independent non-executive 
directors and four non-executive 
directors. the determination of 
whether a director is independent 

or not, and non-executive or not, is 
based on the criteria as set out in 
the code.

•	 the directors do not have fixed-
term contracts and the notice 
period for termination or resignation 
is 30 days’ notice. the directors 
are elected annually at the Annual 
general meeting.

•	Apart from gregory chalmers, 
none of the directors had any direct 
or indirect interest in the company 
as at 31 December 2016. 

•	A list of directors’ interests is 
maintained and directors confirm 
that the list is correct at each 
quarterly board meeting. the 
company has a conflict of interest 
policy which sets out the directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of 
potential and perceived conflicts 
of interest. Primarily, directors 
are expected to avoid conflicts 
of interest and, where this is 
not possible, directors have a 
responsibility to disclose any areas 
of (potential) conflict of interest to 
the company, following which the 
company, through the Audit and 
Risk management committee, will 
make a recommendation of the 
required remedial action.

•	 information on the individual board 
members and their respective 
profiles are disclosed on pages 22 
and 23. Directors’ remuneration is 
disclosed on page 25.

related party transactions

the company has not entered into 
transactions with any of  its directors, 
other than directorship contracts 
which are at arm’s length and at 
market related rates. the company 
has not entered into transactions 
with the Advisor, sAReA, nor the 
Administrator, itl, other than 
those specifically provided for in 
the Advisory and Administration 
Agreements, respectively. there is 
no other management agreement 
between the company and any third 
party which was signed during the 
year under review.

Dealing in the shares of the 
company

no director has dealt in the shares 
of  the company for the period under 
review. should a director wish to deal 
in the shares of  the company, such 
director would follow the principles 
and rules set out in the stock 
exchange of  mauritius listings rules 
dealing with the matter.

role of the Board

•	 the board is ultimately 
accountable and responsible 
for the performance and affairs 
of the company. in addition 
the board ensures that the 
company complies with the 
listings requirements of the stock 
exchange of mauritius.

•	Quarterly board meetings have 
taken place since inception of 
the company. Additional board 
meetings were held when the need 
arose. in 2016, a total of four board 
meetings took place.

•	 the outcome of a self-evaluation of 
the board conducted in 2016 was 
satisfactory.

role of the chairman

the chairperson is an independent 
non-executive director. the role and 
function of  the chairman is to engage 
the service providers on all material 
matters affecting the company and 
the board, to preside over meetings 
of  directors and ensure appropriate 
time is spent on the key issues facing 
the company.

role of the non-executive and 
independent directors

non-executive and independent 
directors play a vital role in providing 
independent judgement in all 
circumstances. All directors are 
bound by fiduciary duties and duties 
of  care and skill.

Directors' selection

shareholders are ultimately 
responsible for electing or removing 
board members. board members 
are selected to achieve a mix of  skills 
and knowledge appropriate to the 
company’s business.
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Audit and risk management 
committee

the committee is a committee of  the 
board of  Directors of  the company, 
established on 27 June 2013 to 
assist the board in discharging its 
responsibilities relating to:

•	 the safeguarding of the company’s 
assets;

•	 the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of the company’s 
system of internal controls;

•	 the quality and integrity of financial 
reporting and disclosures, and the 
risks related thereto;

•	 the qualification, independence, 
performance and fees of the 
external auditors of the company;

•	 the performance and fees of 
internal Audit as an internal 
assurance provider; and

•	 the company’s compliance with 
all applicable legal, regulatory and 
accounting requirements.

•	 the outcome of a self-evaluation of 
the Audit and Risk management 
committee conducted in 2016 
was satisfactory;

•	 an assessment of service 
providers, including, but not limited 
to, the company’s Administrator 
and the company’s Advisor; and

•	 an assessment of the adequacy or 
otherwise of the insurance cover 
taken out by the company and 
investee companies.

At year-end the committee consists 
of  two independent non-executive 
directors (Keith Jefferis and cyril 
Wong sun thiong) and two non-
executive directors (Yan ng and 
Kobus möller). until his retirement 
Peter cook was a member of  this 
committee. 

the committee meets at least 
quarterly and held six meetings during 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

the committee’s responsibilities 
and duties are governed by terms 
of  reference that were approved by 
the board.

the committee provides feedback to 
the board following all meetings.

investment committee

•	 the company shall not make an 
investment or disposal without the 
prior agreement of the investment 
committee. the company has an 
investment charter which sets out 
investment guidelines.

•	At 31 December 2016 the 
investment committee comprised 
of one non-executive director 
(gregory chalmers) and a further 
three members (eric Visser from 
sentinel Retirement Fund, Kudzani 
Pickup from botswana insurance 
Fund management and Andre 
Rheeder representing sanlam 
life insurance limited) that were 
appointed in terms of the company 
constitution that allows for large 
investors to appoint a member to 
the investment committee. until 
his retirement, Peter cook was 
a member of this committee. 
the board is yet to appoint his 
replacement.

Key risks

the key risks and management 
thereof  are dealt with on pages 28  
and 29.

company diary

A timetable regarding important 
events, including reporting dates, 
dividend declaration and payment 
dates, and meetings of  shareholders, 
is set out on page 72.

Share price information

share price information is set out on 
page 74.

Donations.

the company did not make any 
donations in the year under review.

corporate citizenship

the company takes all necessary 
steps to be a good corporate citizen. 
the company did not provide funds 
for political parties or causes in the 
year under review.

other

in addition to items mentioned above, 
the company is compliant with the 
following sections of  the code of  
corporate governance for mauritius:

•	company secretary – 
intercontinental trust limited acts 
as the company secretary and 
administrator, including performing 
secretarial duties for the board, 
the Audit and Risk management 
committee and the investment 
committee.

•	given the business model of 
the company described in the 
company profile, the company has 
no employees and has therefore 
not established a Remuneration 
committee. 

•	corporate governance and 
nomination committees have 
not been established and, as the 
company evolves, these will be 
considered. 

•	 the company does not have an 
internal audit function. internal 
audit work would be carried out by 
external audit firms on an ad hoc 
basis should the Audit and Risk 
management committee deem it 
necessary. 

•	 the company does not have a 
chief executive Officer. if the 
circumstances or the business 
model of the company change, 
consideration will be given to the 
appointment of a chief executive 
Officer.

•	social and environmental Policies: 
the company will take all possible 
measures to reduce the social 
and environmental impact of its 
operations and properties, as and 
when required. 

•	ethical behaviour: the board 
ensures ethical behaviour in all its 
dealings, such that stakeholders 
can expect that the company will 
act in good faith, with no bribery 
ever accepted or permitted and all 
conflicts of interest disclosed.

•	shareholder Agreement: there is 
currently no shareholder agreement 
affecting governance of the board 
of the company. 
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KeY RisK FActORs AnD 
RisK mAnAgement

the company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of  shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the 
company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of  ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring of  
risks, subject to risk limits and other controls. the process of  risk management is critical to the company’s continuing 
profitability.

risk management structure

the board of  Directors of  the company has established an Audit and Risk management committee to assist the board 
of  Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to the list of  items referred to in the description of  that committee’s 
responsibilities on page 27.

risk measurement and reporting system

the committee will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying reports to 
shareholders, the preliminary announcement of  results and any other announcement regarding the company’s results or 
other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval by, the board of  Directors.

the following are the key risk factors that have been identified as currently relating to the sAcReil business:

riSK cAteGory riSK eXpLAnAtion riSK mitiGAtion

ownership risk the risk that sAcReil cannot obtain full 
title, or no longer has title to an investment 
property (e.g. lease of  land expires without 
renewal, changes in law, land claims).

When acquiring an asset a thorough legal 
due diligence is conducted. 

Structural risk the risk that the investment property 
structure is no longer suitable for leasing. 
this may be due to reasons including 
structural defects, terrorist attacks, fire; 
natural disasters, changes in law.

When acquiring an asset a thorough 
structural due diligence is conducted. 
Assets are adequately insured and 
monitored constantly.

income risk the risk of  not being able to maintain the 
level of  net income associated with the 
building, typically due to increased costs 
or vacancies.

in-country tenant ability to afford rentals 
due to depreciation of  the local currency.

long-term leases are entered into as far 
as possible.

Property manager fees are usually a 
percentage of  collections.

costs are controlled and measured 
against an approved budget.

competition risk the risk of  a new supply of  offices and 
malls, and the size of  the market itself.

the risk of  competitors entering the 
market.

market intelligence is constantly obtained 
and considered by the Advisor. informed 
actions (pricing and concessions) are 
made to retain and attract tenants.

taxation risk the risk of  existing tax laws being 
changed, new tax laws being introduced, 
changes in the interpretation of  existing 
laws.

Ongoing tax advice is obtained from 
appropriate tax experts in respect of  the 
regions in which sAcReil has invested.
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riSK cAteGory riSK eXpLAnAtion riSK mitiGAtion

currency risk sAcReil is invested in assets that earn 
various currencies (usD, cedi, naira, 
tanzanian shillings), leading to the 
exposure of  parts of  the portfolio to the 
change in the value of  a specific currency 
in relation to the usD (the calculation 
currency in which the company’s 
performance is measured) and illiquidity in 
the forex markets of  certain countries.

income is generally indexed to usD and 
debt funding has been obtained in usD. 
this risk is reduced provided that sAcReil 
can regularly and readily externalise 
usD from the respective countries to 
service its debt and provide a return to its 
shareholders. sAcReil works with local 
banks and engages the central bank of  
each country.

financing/refinancing 
risk

the risk that finance will be more 
expensive than envisaged or that there is 
an inability to obtain finance.

breach of  loan covenants due to the 
underlying properties performance.

sAcReil has established relationships 
with various banks and financial 
institutions.

loan covenants are monitored 
continuously.

long-term facilities have been negotiated 
where deemed appropriate.

Sovereign risk country specific risk including a 
government’s policies and practices 
restricting the ability of  borrowers and 
investors in that country to meet their 
obligations thus affecting the ability of  
sAcReil to achieve its anticipated returns.

the inability to obtain usD in the countries 
in which sAcReil has invested.

the company approved countries (per the 
investment charter) generally have stable 
governments.

regulatory risk the risk of  not complying with regulatory 
requirements, the risk of  regulations 
being changed or new regulations being 
introduced in some way affecting the 
viability of  sAcReil’s investments.

Advice is obtained from appropriate 
experts in respect of  the regions in which 
sAcReil has invested.

execution risk the risk of  not acquiring assets as a 
result of  being unable to conclude due 
diligences in a timeous manner.

enforcing strict adherence to timelines by 
external advisors and an efficient internal 
approval process.

economic environment 
risk

the risk that the environment in which an 
asset operates significantly changes.

market intelligence is constantly obtained 
and considered by the Advisor.

Assets are actively managed through local 
property managers.
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DirectOrs nationalities Date appointed Date retired

Yan Chong ng Cheng Hin mauritian 9 may 2012
Peter John Cook south african 29 January 2013 1 June 2016
Anil Carrim Currimjee mauritian 29 January 2013
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe south african 29 January 2013
Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru Kenyan 31 march 2015
Gregory Alexander Chalmers south african 3 november 2015
Keith Robert Jefferis Botswana 1 July 2016
Cyril Wong Sun Thiong mauritian 9 september 2016
Jacobus Petrus Möller south african 28 October 2016

aDministratOr anD secretarY
Intercontinental Trust limited
level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène
Mauritius

reGistereD OFFice
level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène
Mauritius

aUDitOrs
Ernst & Young
9th Floor, neXTeracom Tower 1, Cybercity, Ebène
Mauritius

CORPORATE InFORMATIOn
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COMMEnTARY OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their commentary and the audited financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate 
Investments limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PrinciPal actiVitY
The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in commercial real estate in selected countries in  
sub-Saharan Africa. These investments are normally held indirectly through holding(s) in companies holding the 
underlying real estate assets.

resUlts anD DiViDenDs
The Company’s operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to uSD3,736,571 (2015: operating loss 
of uSD2,181,987).

The directors have approved a total final ordinary dividend of uSD1,118,185 to Class A and B shareholders (equivalent to 
uSD0.06 per share) which, together with the interim dividend, equates to a total dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2016 of uSD2,282,960 (equivalent to uSD0.1225 per share) (2015: uSD4,541,581, equivalent to uSD0.2437 per share). 

DirectOrs
The directors in office during the year are as stated on page 32.

DirectOrs' resPOnsiBilities 
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising 
the Company’s Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Changes in net Assets Attributable to Shareholders and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the 
Companies Act 2001.

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to 
believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

aUDitOrs
The auditors, Ernst & Young, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their 
reappointment will be proposed at the next Annual Meeting of the Shareholders in accordance with Section 200 of 
the Companies Act 2001.
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CERTIFICATIOn  
BY COMPAnY SECRETARY

We certify, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited 
(‘’the Company’’) has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of the Company under 
Section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2016.

intercontinental trust limited
Company Secretary

28 March 2017

level 3
Alexander House
35 Cybercity
Ebène 
Mauritius
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InDEPEnDEnT AuDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SAnlAM AFRICA CORE REAl ESTATE 
InVESTMEnTS lIMITED

rePOrt On the aUDit OF the Financial statements
OPiniOn 

We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited (the “Company”) set 
out on pages 38 to 71 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of the Company as at  
31 December 2016, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001.

Basis FOr OPiniOn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountant’s 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

KeY aUDit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of 
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit 
opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 

KeY aUDit matter hOw the matter was aDDresseD in the aUDit

Fair values of financial instruments

Fair value measurement and associated valuation 
adjustments is a subjective area because of relying on 
a market-based model to value items with weak liquidity 
and price discovery. Valuation techniques used, such 
as discounted cash flows, is be subjective in nature 
and involve various judgemental assumptions such as 
risk free rate, risk premium and future cash flows, and 
depend on unobservable inputs. The use of different 
assumptions could produce significantly different 
estimates of fair value. Associated risk management 
disclosure is complex and dependent on high quality 
data. 

Refer to note 2.2 (a) for the accounting policy of financial 
instruments, and note 8 for the disclosure of fair values of 
financial instruments.

Our audit included the following audit procedures to 
address this item:

We evaluated the assumptions used under the 
discounted cash flows models used by management. 
We assessed the discount rates, rental income 
projections and escalation clauses in the rental 
agreements. We also verified the accuracy of the 
discounted cash flow models.

We read and understood the valuation reports of 
management experts and investigated major variances 
noted compared to last year. We corroborated the 
explanations with our knowledge of the underlying 
companies’ activities and knowledge of the industry. 

We assessed the adequacy of associated valuation 
adjustments and tested that the related disclosures 
includes fair valuation sensitivities and fair value 
hierarchy.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SAnlAM AFRICA CORE REAl ESTATE InVESTMEnTS 
lIMITED
Other inFOrmatiOn

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the commentary of the directors 
and the certificate from the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act 2001, which we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, and the annual report which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other 
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

resPOnsiBilities OF the DirectOrs FOr the Financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

aUDitOr’s resPOnsiBilities FOr the aUDit OF the Financial statements

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 	Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	 fraud	or	error,	
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 	Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

•	 	Evaluate	 the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	 the	 reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 	Conclude	on	 the	appropriateness	of	 the	director’s	use	of	 the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and	based	on	
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

InDEPEnDEnT AuDITORS’ REPORT 
(COnTInuED)
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or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 	Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	financial	statements,	including	the	disclosures,	and	
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

•	 	Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within the Company to express an opinion on the Company financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

Other matter

This report is made solely for the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 205 of the Companies 
Act, 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members, as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

rePOrt On Other leGal anD reGUlatOrY reqUirements 
cOmPanies act 2001

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as auditors, and dealings in the 
ordinary course of business. 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of 
those records.

ernst & Young andre lai wan loong, a.c.a

Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC

28 March 2017
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STATEMEnT OF PROFIT OR lOSS AnD 
OTHER COMPREHEnSIVE InCOME
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

  2016 2015
  notes UsD uSD

incOme  
net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 8,167,290 2,419,604
Interest income 6 1,787,081 1,460,860 
Other income 5 –  1,731

9,954,371 3,882,195

eXPenses
Provision for impairment of loan receivable 7(ii) (2,829,365) (2,819,636)
loan interest 9 (211,612)  –
Professional fees 13 (294,094)  (331,601) 
Advisory fees 10 (2,642,011)  (2,677,442) 
Audit fees (22,620)  (17,480)
Bank charges (10,546) (8,154)
Accounting fees (57,310)  (55,250)
Disbursements (2,765)  (626) 
licence fees (20,038)  (19,834)
Directors fees 14 (107,350) (121,964) 
Other expenses (20,089)  (12,195) 

(6,217,800) (6,064,182)

OPeratinG PrOFit/(lOss) 3,736,571  (2,181,987)
Finance costs
Distribution to shareholders 18 (4,359,055) (2,799,687)

lOss BeFOre taX (622,484) (4,981,674)
Income tax expense 4 –  – 

Decrease in net assets attriBUtaBle tO sharehOlDers 
FrOm OPeratiOns (622,484) (4,981,674)

The notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMEnT OF FInAnCIAl POSITIOn
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

The notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.

  2016 2015
notes UsD uSD

assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 22 5,118,507 1,911,775
loan receivable 6 37,347,742  45,340,208
Interest receivable 6 1,367,793 943,940
Other receivables and prepayments 7(i) 384,025  324,049
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 8 68,420,935  60,253,645

total assets 112,639,002  108,773,617

liaBilities 
Borrowings 9 (4,500,000)  –
Interest payable 9 (856) –
Advisory fees payable 10 (668,300) (670,920)
Other payables and accruals 11 (76,830) (87,197)

total liabilities excluding net assets attributable to shareholders (5,245,986) (758,117)

net assets attributable to shareholders 107,393,016  108,015,500

net assets attributable to:
– Class A 12 95,867,850 96,423,531
– Class B 12 11,525,066 11,591,869
– Class C 12 100 100

net assets attributable to shareholders 107,393,016 108,015,500

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director
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STATEMEnT OF CHAnGES In nET ASSETS 
ATTRIBuTABlE TO SHAREHOlDERS
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

net assets attributable to

class a class B class c total
UsD UsD UsD UsD

2015
at 1 January 2015 100,809,466 13,220,177 100 114,029,743
Additional dividend paid (1,032,569) (1,032,569)
Reversal of additional dividend reserve (68,470) (68,470)
Re-allocation of additional dividend reserve 61,122 7,348 68,470

Decrease in net assets attributable to 
shareholders from operations excluding 
additional dividend reserve (4,447,057) (534,617) – (4,981,674)
Additional dividend reserve1 – – – –

Decrease in net assets attributable  
to shareholders from operations (4,447,057) (534,617) – (4,981,674)

at 31 December 2015 96,423,531 11,591,869 100 108,015,500

number of shares in issue 16,636,409 2,000,000 100
net asset value per share  uSD5.7959 uSD5.7959 uSD1

2016
at 1 January 2016 96,423,531 11,591,869 100 108,015,500
Additional dividend paid – – – –

Decrease in net assets attributable to 
shareholders from operations excluding 
additional dividend reserve (555,681) (66,803) – (622,484)
Additional dividend reserve1 – – – –

Decrease in net assets attributable  
to shareholders from operations (555,681) (66,803) – (622,484)

at 31 December 2016 95,867,850 11,525,066 100 107,393,016

number of shares in issue 16,636,409 2,000,000 100
net asset value per share UsD5.7625 UsD5.7625 UsD1

1 Refer to note 12 for additional information on the additional dividend reserve.

The notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMEnT OF CASH FlOWS
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016 2015
notes UsD uSD

cash FlOws FrOm OPeratinG actiVities
Decrease in net assets attributable to shareholders from operations (622,484) (4,981,674) 

net changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease in loan receivable 6 7,992,466 866,205
Increase in interest receivable 6 (423,853) (830,889)
Increase in other receivables and prepayments 7 (59,976) (244,917)
Increase in financial assets designated at fair value  
through profit or loss 8 (8,167,290) (2,419,604)
Increase in loan interest payable 9 856 –
(Decrease)/increase in advisory fees payable 10 (2,620) 29,005
(Decrease)/increase in other payables 11 (10,367)  6,956

net cash used in operating activities (1,293,268) (7,574,918)

cash FlOws FrOm FinancinG actiVities
Proceeds from borrowings 9 4,500,000 –
Additional dividend paid – restricted to Class B shareholder 12 – (1,032,569)

net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities 4,500,000 (1,032,569)

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,206,732 (8,607,487)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,911,775 10,519,262 

cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5,118,507 1,911,775

The notes on pages 42 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

1. leGal FOrm anD PrinciPal actiVitY
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius 
as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001. The Company was converted 
to a Category 1 Global Business on the 29 March 2013 and was converted to a public company on the 8 April 2013. 
Its registered office is level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201, Mauritius.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as from 16 May 2013 and operates as a closed-ended 
fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select sub-Saharan 
African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar-based income yield and longer term 
capital growth. 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017.

2.1 Basis OF PreParatiOn

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements are presented in united States Dollars (“uSD”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
uSD, except when otherwise indicated. 

2.2 sUmmarY OF siGniFicant accOUntinG POlicies 

(a) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into the following 
categories, in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is sub-divided into:

•	 	Financial	 instruments	 designated	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss	 upon	 initial	 recognition: These 
include investment in subsidiaries and an investment in a joint venture. These financial assets are 
designated upon initial recognition on the basis that they are part of a group of financial assets 
which are managed and have their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
risk management and investment strategies of the Company, as set out in the Company’s offering 
document.

•	 	Investment	 in	subsidiaries: In accordance with the exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements since it 
has taken the investment entity exception available under IFRS 10. Investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The exception is applicable 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and the Company early adopted this exception 
during the year ended 31 December 2013.

•	 	Investment	in	joint	venture: The Company, being an investment entity, has designated its investment 
in joint venture on initial recognition in accordance with the election permitted in IAS 28 Investments 
in Associates and Joint ventures, at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 39.

Loans and receivables

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.
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(ii) Financial assets – initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a timeframe established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., 
the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Company’s financial assets include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans and 
receivables.

subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as set out below:

•	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial 
instruments are recorded in net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
Interest and dividend earned on these instruments are recorded separately in interest income and 
dividend income.

•	 Loans	and	receivables

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
effective interest rate method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 
The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets – derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised when:

•	   The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; and

•	   The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.

In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
the Company could be required to repay.
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2.2 sUmmarY OF siGniFicant accOUntinG POlicies (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each calendar quarter reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets should be impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
“loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include 
indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

(v) Financial liabilities – initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, 
as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings, payables and redeemable participating 
shares (refer to note (h)).

(vi) Financial liabilities – subsequent measurement

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss.

(vii) Financial liabilities – derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligations under the liability are all discharged or cancelled 
or expire.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(viii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(ix) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for 
short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS 
(COnTInuED)
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include: 

•	 using	recent	arm’s	length	market	transactions

•	 reference	to	the	current	fair	value	of	another	instrument	that	is	substantially	the	same

•		 a	discounted	cash	flow	analysis	or	other	valuation	models

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are 
provided in note 8.

(b) Foreign currency translations

Functional and presentation currency

The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in uSD for the benefit of 
its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly uSD 
denominated. The Company’s performance is evaluated in uSD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers 
uSD as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events 
and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional and presentation currency is the uSD.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. 
Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as 
at the dates of the initial transactions.

non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial 
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as part of the “net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

(c) revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all interest-
bearing financial instruments using the EIR method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

(d) expense recognition

All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

(e) cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.
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2.2 sUmmarY OF siGniFicant accOUntinG POlicies (continued)

(f) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit 
or loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(g) interest expense

Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all 
interest-bearing financial instruments using the effective interest rate (EIR).

(h) redeemable participating shares

Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholders’ or the Company’s option upon 
such terms and conditions as stated in the Company’s Constitution and are classified as financial liabilities 
(designated at fair value through profit or loss, due to the fact that the shares are part of a group of financial 
assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy). The liabilities arising from the redeemable shares are 
carried at the redemption amount being the net asset value calculated in accordance with IFRS.

Please see note 12 to the financial statements for further details on the redeemable participating shares.

(i) current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Company 
operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
statement of profit or loss. The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.

(j) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS 
(COnTInuED)
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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•	  In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

•	Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

(k) Distribution to shareholders

unrealised gains and losses are included in the net assets attributable to shareholders and are distributable 
as follows:

Class A 

The Company’s Constitution provides that a minimum dividend of 90% of Available Cash (as that term is 
defined in the Company’s Constitution) must be declared as dividends, but does not specify a maximum 
dividend. 

Class B shareholders – Additional Dividend

The Class B Shares confer the right to receive an Additional Dividend should certain hurdle target returns 
for the Company be exceeded. At a high level, to the extent the Company’s return exceeds 10% but is below 
15%, the Additional Dividend is 15% of the excess, and to the extent the Company’s return exceeds 15%, the 
Additional Dividend is 20% of the excess. In order for the Additional Dividend to be ultimately declared, the 
Company’s net Asset Value in the following year must be no less than 10% higher as compared to the previous 
year’s net Asset Value.

Distributions to shareholders are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
as finance costs.
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2.3 chanGes in accOUntinG POlicies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following 
new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted in the year commencing 1 January 2016:

amendments

effective for
 accounting

 period 
beginning 
on or after

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interest 1 January 2016

IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptance Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 1 January 2016

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016

Annual Improvements Cycle 2012 – 2014 1 January 2016

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investments Entities:  Applying the Consolidation Exception 1 January 2016

Where the adoption of the standard or interpretation or improvement is deemed to have an impact on the financial 
statements or performance of the Company, its impact is described below:

Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle

These improvements include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

(i) Changes in method of disposal

  Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to the owners. The 
amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered 
a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the 
application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment is applied prospectively.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(i) Servicing contracts

  The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement 
in a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance 
for continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment 
of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the 
required disclosures need not be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which the 
entity first applies the amendments.

(ii) Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements

  The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial 
statements, unless such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent 
annual report. This amendment is applied retrospectively.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or 
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within 
the interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). 

The other information within the interim financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim 
financial statements and at the same time. This amendment is applied retrospectively.

nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS 
(COnTInuED)
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments 
clarify:

•		 The	materiality	requirements	in	IAS	1;

•		 	That	specific	line	items	in	the	statement(s)	of	profit	or	loss	and	OCI	and	the	statement	of	financial	position	may	
be disaggregated;

•		 That	entities	have	flexibility	as	to	the	order	in	which	they	present	the	notes	to	financial	statements

•		 	That	the	share	of	OCI	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	must	be	presented	
in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the 
statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI. 

These amendments do not have any impact on the Company.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting 
consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment 
entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of 
an investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement applied by the 
investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments are applied retrospectively and the Company has early adopted the consolidation exception.

2.4 stanDarDs issUeD BUt nOt Yet eFFectiVe 

The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. 
They are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on the specified dates, but the Company has not early 
adopted them:

new or revised standards and interpretations:

new or revised standards

effective for 
accounting

 period 
beginning 
on or after

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 leases 1 January 2019

amendments
Amendments to IAS 7 1 January 2017
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations – Amendments to IFRS 11 1 January 2017
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) *
Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle 1 July 2017
Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 January 2017

All other new standards/amendments that are not yet effective are not considered to have a significant impact on 
the entity.

* In December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of 
accounting.
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2.4 stanDarDs issUeD BUt nOt Yet eFFectiVe (continued) 

new or revised standards

iFrs 9 Financial instruments – classification and measurement of financial assets, accounting for financial 
liabilities and derecognition – effective 1 January 2018

iFrs 9 Financial instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information 
is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited 
exceptions.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the standard.

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets, as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement of financial assets 

  The Company does not expect a significant impact on its balance sheet or equity on applying the classification 
and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets 
currently held at fair value. 

  The equity shares in non-listed companies are intended to be held for the foreseeable future. The Company 
does not expect to apply the option to present fair value changes in OCI, and, therefore, believes the application 
of IFRS 9 would not have a significant impact. 

  loans as well as trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to 
cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the Company expects that these will 
continue to be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. However, the Company will analyse the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of those instruments in more detail before concluding whether all those instruments 
meet the criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9.

(b) Impairment

  IFRS 9 requires the Company to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and trade 
receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Company expects to apply the simplified approach and 
record lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables. The Company will need to perform a more detailed 
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking elements to 
determine the extent of the impact. 

hedge accounting

 As IFRS 9 does not change the general principles of how an entity accounts for effective hedges, the Company 
does not expect a significant impact as a result of applying IFRS 9. 

iFrs 15 revenue from contracts with customers – effective 1 January 2018

 IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

 The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full 
retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. 

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the standard.
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IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model 
similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for 
lessees – leases of ‘low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease 
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease 
term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease 
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change 
in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine 
those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two 
types of leases: operating and finance leases.

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but not 
before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a 
modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.

In 2017, the Company plans to assess the potential effect of IFRS 16 on its financial statements

amendments to iFrs 10 and ias 28: sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary 
that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting 
from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets 
that do not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the 
associate or joint venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity 
that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively.

ias 7 Disclosure initiative – amendments to ias 7 – effective 1 January 2017

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an 
entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application 
of the amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. 
Application of amendments will result in additional disclosure provided by the Company.

ias 12 recognition of Deferred tax assets for Unrealised losses – amendments to ias 12 – effective 
1 January 2017

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits 
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, 
the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the 
circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 
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2.4 stanDarDs issUeD BUt nOt Yet eFFectiVe (continued)

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the amendments, 
the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised in opening retained 
earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change between opening 
retained earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact.

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application 
permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. These amendments 
are not expected to have any impact on the Company.

iFrs 2 classification and measurement of share-based Payment transactions – amendments to iFrs 2 – 
effective 1 January 2018

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting 
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a 
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash 
settled to equity settled.

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. The Company 
is assessing the potential effect of the amendments on its consolidated financial statements.

transfers of investment Property (amendments to ias 40) – effective 1 January 2018 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or 
development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the 
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in 
use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use. Entities should apply the amendments prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the beginning 
of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the 
classification of property held at that date and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions that exist 
at that date.

Retrospective application in accordance with IAS 8 is only permitted if that is possible without the use of hindsight. 
Early application of the amendments is permitted and must be disclosed.

The amendments will eliminate diversity in practice and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018.

iFrs 12 Disclosure of interests in Other entities – clarification of the scope of the disclosure requirements 
in iFrs 12 – effective 1 January 2017

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than those in paragraphs B10 – B16, 
apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture 
or an associate) that is classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale.

The amendments are effective from 1 January 2017 and must be applied retrospectively.

iFric interpretation 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration – effective 1 January 2018

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 
relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the 
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments 
or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of 
advance consideration.
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Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply the interpretation 
prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that are initially recognised on or after:

(i)  The beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation

Or

(ii)   The beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements of 
the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation.

Early application of interpretation is permitted and must be disclosed. First-time adopters of IFRS are also permitted 
to apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income initially recognised on or after the date 
of transition to IFRS.

The amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice, when recognising the related asset, expense or 
income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance 
consideration received or paid in foreign currency

iFrs 1 First-time adoption of international Financial reporting standards – Deletion of short-term 
exemptions for first-time adopters – effective 1 January 2018 

Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3 – E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because they have now served their intended 
purpose.

The amendment is effective from 1 January 2018.

ias 28 investments in associates and Joint Ventures – clarification that measuring investees at fair value 
through profit or loss is an investment – by – investment choice – effective 1 January 2018 

The amendments clarifies that:

An entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an 
investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through 
profit or loss.

If an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment 
entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by 
that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in 
subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of 
the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or 
joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes 
a parent.

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2018, with earlier application 
permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact.

3. siGniFicant accOUntinG JUDGements, estimates anD assUmPtiOns
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the Board of Directors to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in future periods.

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Board of Directors has made the following 
judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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3. siGniFicant accOUntinG JUDGements, estimates anD assUmPtiOns (continued)
(i) Assessment as investment entity

  The amendment to IFRS 10 Investment Entities requires entities that meet the definition of an investment entity 
to apply the exception from consolidation and equity accounting, and instead account for its investments in 
subsidiaries and joint venture at fair value through profit or loss. The Company undertook an assessment and 
concluded that it is an investment entity as follows:

  The Company has currently four investments and is in the process of making additional investments into assets 
to grow its asset base; the investments are predominantly in the form of equities. The Company has several 
investors since its listing. The Company has been deemed to meet the definition of an investment entity per 
IFRS 10 as the following conditions exist:

 a)  The Company’s Private Placement Memorandum (PPM) details its objective of providing investment 
management services to investors;

 b)  The Company’s business purpose, which was communicated directly to investors through its PPM, is 
investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income; and

 c)  The performance of investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company reports to 
its investors on a quarterly basis as per the Stock Exchange of Mauritius listing rules and to its management, 
via internal management reports, on a fair value basis. The Company has an exit strategy for all its 
investments.

  The Board of Directors has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These 
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change.

(ii) Determination of functional currency

  The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in uSD for the benefit of its 
shareholder. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly uSD denominated. 
The Company’s performance is evaluated in uSD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers uSD as the 
currency that most accurately represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and 
conditions. 

  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below:

estimates and assumptions

(i) Fair value of financial instruments 

  When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. The inputs 
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible but, where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such as 
liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect 
the reported fair value of financial instruments (refer to note 8 for fair value disclosure).

 (ii) Taxes 

   uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in tax laws on 
foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences arising between the 
actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate 
future adjustments to tax expense. 

   The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by 
the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such provisions are based on 
eight various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations 
by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide 
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective investment’s domicile. 

nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS 
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  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing and the level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies (refer to note 4 for tax note disclosure).

4. taXatiOn
The Company, being the holder of a Category 1, Global Business licence, is liable to income tax in Mauritius on 
its taxable profit arising from its world-wide income at the rate of 15%. The Company’s foreign sourced income 
is eligible for a foreign tax credit which is computed as the lower of the Mauritian tax and the foreign tax on the 
respective foreign sourced income, thus reducing the maximum effective tax rate to 3%.

The foreign tax for a GBl1 company is based on either the foreign tax charged by the foreign country or a presumed 
amount of foreign tax: the presumed amount of foreign tax is based on 80% of the Mauritian tax on the relevant 
foreign sourced income. In computing its total foreign tax credit, the Company is allowed to pool all its foreign 
sourced income. 

Capital gains are outside the scope of the Mauritian tax net while trading profits made by the Company from 
the sale of shares are exempt from tax. The Company does not have any tax liability for the financial year ended  
31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

A reconciliation between the applicable income tax rate of 15.00% and the effective income tax rate is as follows:

2016 2015
% %

Applicable income tax rate 15.00 15.00
Impact of:

Exempt income – –
Income not subject to tax1 196.81 7.29
non tax deductible expenses2 (175.85) (17.23)
unrecognised tax losses (35.96) (5.06)

Actual income tax rate – –

1  Income not subject to tax includes the net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
2  Non-tax deductible expenses consist mainly of impairment of receivable and distribution to shareholders.

At 31 December 2016, the Company had accumulated tax losses of uSD3,464,029 (2015: uSD1,971,657). The tax 
losses are available for offset against future taxable profit. Below is a summary of the available tax losses to the 
Company:

accumulated tax losses

tax losses 2016 2015
tax losses for the year UsD expiry date UsD uSD

31 December 2013 71,213 31 December 2018 71,213 71,213
31 December 2014 220,708 31 December 2019 220,708 220,708
31 December 2015 1,679,736 31 December 2020 1,679,736 1,679,736
31 December 2016 1,492,372 31 December 2021 1,492,372 –

Accumulated tax losses at 31 December 3,464,029 1,971,657

The foregoing is based on current interpretation and practice and is subject to any future changes in Mauritian 
tax laws.

Deferred tax
A deferred tax asset of uSD103,921 (2015: uSD59,150) has not been recognised in respect of the tax loss carried 
forward as the Board of Directors considers that it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the unused tax losses can be utilised. 
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5.  seGment inFOrmatiOn
For management purposes, the Company is organised into one main operating segment, which invests in 
equity securities. All significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Company as one segment.  
The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company as a whole.

The Company only holds investments in companies incorporated in Mauritius. Income or losses shown in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are derived from these companies.

The following table analyses the Company’s income per investment type:

  2016 2015
net gain on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss: UsD uSD

– Joint venture 5,771,077 5,143,975
– Subsidiaries 2,396,213 (2,724,371)
Interest income 1,787,081 1,460,860
Other – 1,731

total 9,954,371 3,882,195

6. lOan receiVaBle 
2016 2015
UsD uSD

loan due from related parties
Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited (note (a) below) 10,559,805 9,635,398 
Amani Place Properties limited (note (b) below) 8,161,477 14,608,985 
lousol Properties Mauritius (note (c) below) 18,626,460 21,095,825

37,347,742 45,340,208

interest receivable from related parties
Amani Place Properties limited (note (b) below) 56,724 329,790
lousol Properties Mauritius (note (c) below) 1,311,069 614,150

1,367,793 943,940

(a) accra mall (maUritiUs) limiteD (“amml”) 

The loan to AMMl is unsecured and bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum. The loan is receivable on demand.

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to uSD886,908 (2015:uSD629,971).

(b) amani Place PrOPerties limiteD (“aPPl”) 

The loan to APPl consists of an interest free loan, with no fixed term for repayment, of uSD4,332,064 and an 
interest-bearing loan amounting to uSD3,829,413 (2015: uSD4,379,573 and uSD10,229,412 respectively). The 
interest-bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of six-month lIBOR plus 2%. The interest-bearing 
loan is receivable on demand.

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to uSD203,254 (2015: uSD249,151). 
At 31 December 2016, interest receivable on the loan amounted to uSD56,724 (2015: uSD329,790).

(c) lOUsOl PrOPerties maUritiUs (“lPm”)

The interest-bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of six-month lIBOR plus 2%. The loan is 
receivable on demand. At 31 December 2016, loan receivables of uSD2,819,365 were impaired and provided 
for (2015: uSD2,788,685). The movement in the provision for impairment of loans and receivables is disclosed 
in note 7.

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to uSD696,919 (2015: uSD581,738). 
At 31 December 2016, interest receivable on the loan amounted to uSD1,311,069 (2015: uSD614,150). 

During the year, an additional amount of uSD350,000 has been disbursed and this was impaired and 
provided for.
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7(i). Other receiVaBles anD PrePaYments

2016 2015
  UsD uSD

Receivable from lousol Properties Mauritius 348,793 290,289
Other receivables and prepayments 35,232 33,760

384,025 324,049

The amount receivables from the related parties are unsecured, interest-free and receivable on demand.

7(ii).  PrOVisiOn FOr imPairment
At 31 December 2016, the loan receivable of uSD10,000 from Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited and uSD2,819,365 
from lousol Properties Mauritius, respectively were impaired and provided for (2015: uSD30,951 and uSD2,788,685 
respectively). See below for the movements in the provision for impairment of loans and receivables.

2016 2015
  UsD uSD

At 1 January 2,852,964 33,328
Charge for the year 2,829,365 2,819,636

at 31 December 5,682,329 2,852,964

8. Financial assets at Fair ValUe thrOUGh PrOFit Or lOss
As at 31 December 2016, the following financial instruments were carried at fair value in the statement of financial 
position:

2016 level 1 level 2 level 3
as at 31 December 2016 UsD UsD UsD UsD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
Investment in equity shares 68,420,935 – – 68,420,935

name of investee company
country of

incorporation
nature 

of activity

number of 
ordinary 

shares
% 

holding
Fair value 

(UsD)

Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited Mauritius Investment holding 172,501 50 38,289,889
Amani Place Properties limited Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 100 30,131,046
lousol Properties Mauritius Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 100 nil
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited Mauritius Investment holding 100 100 nil

2015 level 1 level 2 level 3
As at 31 December 2015 uSD uSD uSD uSD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
Investment in equity shares 60,253,645 – – 60,253,645

name of investee company
country of

incorporation
nature 

of activity

number of
 ordinary 

shares
%

holding
Fair value

(UsD)

Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited Mauritius Investment holding 172,501 50 32,518,811
Amani Place Properties limited Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 100 27,734,834
lousol Properties Mauritius Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 100 nil
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited Mauritius Investment holding 100 100 nil
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8. Financial assets at Fair ValUe thrOUGh PrOFit Or lOss (continued)
Fair ValUe hierarchY

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation on technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

transFers Between leVels

There was no transfer between fair value hierarchies during the year (2015: no transfer).

recOnciliatiOn OF recUrrinG Fair ValUe measUrements OF leVel 3 Financial instrUments

The Company carries unquoted equity shares classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
instruments. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and closing balances including movements of investment in equity classified as 
level 3 within the fair value hierarchy is summarised below:

2016 2015
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss UsD uSD

At beginning of year 60,253,645 57,834,041
Additions – –
net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss 8,167,290 2,419,604

At 31 December 68,420,935 60,253,645

net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss 8,167,290 2,419,604

ValUatiOn techniqUes

Unlisted equity investments

The Company invests in companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such investments do 
not occur on a regular basis. The Company uses a market-based valuation technique for these positions.

ValUatiOn PrOcess FOr leVel 3 ValUatiOns

The fair value of unquoted equity shares held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the investee 
company’s shareholder equity or net asset value. In terms of the Company’s Constitution, the Board of Directors 
has appointed independent external valuers to fair value the investment properties held by the underlying investee 
companies. The valuers are provided with the necessary financial information of the underlying assets in order to 
carry out the independent valuation.

The fair value of property derived from the valuation process is then used by the investee accordingly, to reflect the 
fair value of the investment property. The independent valuation process is performed at a minimum on an annual 
basis.

On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors monitors the performance of the Company’s investments.

accra mall (maUritiUs) limiteD

The Company has a 50% holding in Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited (‘’AMMl’’), a jointly controlled entity 
incorporated in Mauritius. The other 50% holding is held by Atterbury Africa limited. AMMl is an investment 
vehicle with a subsidiary in Ghana, which holds an investment property called Accra Mall with an area of  
21,381 square meters. Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the 
carrying amounts of their liabilities approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding 
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back the proportionate share of the deferred tax liabilities that would only be incurred if the investment property 
is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that a change in ownership would rather result from the sale of the shares 
in the investee company, AMMl. This is based on the current tax laws of Ghana. Should the tax laws of Ghana 
be changed to levy capital gains tax on the transfer of the shares of the foreign holding company, the value of the 
shares in AMMl could decrease by uSD11,084,180 (2015: uSD9,302,001).

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is valued 
by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted cash flow 
method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income for the period of 
five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate capitalisation and discount rates 
(or total rate of return) to give the present value (PV) of the expected total income cash flow. 

Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were to each 
vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in AMMl would be as follows:

reversionary capitalisation rate

2016 7.50% 8.00% 8.50%
Discounted cash flow method UsD UsD UsD

Discount rate 10.00% 41,690,474 39,284,372 37,161,342
10.50% 40,695,990 38,289,889 36,166,859
11.00% 39,726,412 37,320,311 35,197,281

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2015 8.00% 8.50% 9.00%
Discounted cash flow method uSD uSD uSD

Discount rate 13.50% 35,512,669 33,417,410 31,554,958 
14.00%  34,568,522 32,518,811 30,696,845 
14.50% 33,647,635 31,642,288 29,859,757 

Summarised financial information of the joint venture-based on IFRS financial statements and reconciliation with the 
carrying amount of the investment in the financial statements are set out below:

consolidated statement of financial information of accra mall (mauritius) limited

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Current assets 3,338,332 2,689,766
non-current assets 122,978,297 113,166,591 
Current liabilities (47,790,807)  (29,050,415)
non-current liabilities (19,740,942)  (36,583,737)
Equity – Attributable to minority interest (approximately 6%) (4,373,465) (3,788,586)
 – Attributable to Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited (approximately 94%) 54,411,415 46,433,619

Proportion of ownership in Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited 50% 50%
Share of the equity in Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited 27,205,708 23,216,810
Adjustment for deferred tax 11,084,180 9,302,001
Fair value of investment 38,289,888 32,518,811
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8. Financial assets at Fair ValUe thrOUGh PrOFit Or lOss (continued)
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of accra mall (mauritius) limited

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Income 22,176,480 17,533,299
Expenses (13,015,367) (6,922,301)

Profit before tax 9,161,113 10,610,998 
Income tax expense (161,098) (8,836,340)

Profit for the year 9,000,015 1,774,658
net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss 
in subsequent periods – 426,810

Total comprehensive income 9,000,015 2,201,468
non-controlling interest (approximately 6%) (611,385) (169,998)

Total comprehensive income attributable to Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited 8,388,630 2,031,470

Proportion of ownership in Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited 50% 50%
Share of comprehensive income 4,194,315 1,015,735
Adjustment for deferred tax for the year ended 1,576,762 4,128,240

Fair value gain on investment 5,771,077 5,143,975

The joint venture had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).

amani Place PrOPerties limiteD

Amani Place Properties limited (“APPl”) is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Tanzania, namely Capital 
Properties limited (“CPl”), which holds investment properties.

APPl holds 4,999,999 shares out of the issued 5 million shares in CPl, which is incorporated in Tanzania 
and domiciled in Tanzania as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly traded. The 
other 1 share is held by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited (“SOHl”). The principal activity of CPl is investment 
in commercial property. Currently, CPl owns three buildings called FnB House, Amani Place and Barclays 
House measuring 20,962 square metres in aggregate and the related parking silo. All buildings are located in  
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their 
liabilities approximate fair value. Due to provisions in Tanzanian legislation, the fair value so determined is not 
adjusted by adding back the deferred tax liability created in CPl.

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is valued 
by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted cash flow 
method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income for the period 
of five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate reversionary capitalisation and 
discount rates (or total rate of return) to give the present value (PV) of the expected total income cash flow. 
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Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or future capitalisation rate were to each vary by 
50 basis points, the value of the investment in Amani Place Properties limited would change as follows:

reversionary capitalisation rate

2016 9.40%* 9.90%* 10.40%*
Discounted cash flow method UsD UsD UsD

Discount rate 10.00% 33,014,384 31,155,132 29,474,987
10.50% 31,990,298 30,131,046 28,450,902
11.00% 30,991,869 29,132,616 27,452,472

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2015 9.40%* 9.90%* 10.40%*
Discounted cash flow method uSD uSD uSD

Discount rate 10.25% 28,992,130 28,170,277 27,428,071
10.75% 28,538,301 27,734,834 27,009,231
11.25% 28,095,838 27,310,265 26,600,822

* Note that these are the weighted average capitalisation rates, weighted by the valuation of each individual office tower.

The shares held by the Company in APPl would have been pledged to Investec Bank limited in the event that there 
was any drawdown of the facility amounting to uSD13,000,000 which was entered into between the Company and 
Investec Bank limited in 2014. This facility expired on 18 March 2016 without any amounts having been drawndown.

lOUsOl PrOPerties maUritiUs anD sacreil ODDlOt hOlDinGs limiteD 

lPM and SOHl are investment vehicles holding a subsidiary in nigeria namely lousol Properties limited (“lPl”), 
which in turn holds an investment property. SOHl also holds 1 share in CPl.

lPM and SOHl hold 163,899,836 shares and 164 shares respectively in lPl, which is incorporated in nigeria 
and domiciled in nigeria as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly traded. The principal 
activity of lPl is investment in real estate. Currently, lPl owns one building called Atlantic House with an area of 
4,271 square meters. The building is located in lagos, nigeria.

The carrying amount of SOHl and lPM as at 31 December 2016 are nil (2015: nil) as both companies are 
loss-making.

Both the investee companies and lPl value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their liabilities 
approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the deferred tax liability that would 
only be incurred if the investment property is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that a change in ownership would 
rather result from the sale of the shares in the investee company. 

This is based on the current tax laws of nigeria. Should the tax laws of nigeria be changed to levy capital gains tax 
on the transfer of the shares of the foreign holding company, the provisioning for the impairment of loan receivable 
could decrease by uSDnil (2015: uSD247,051).

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is valued 
by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted cash flow 
method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income for the period of 
five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate capitalisation and discount rates 
(or total rate of return) to give the present value (PV) of the expected income. 

In 2015 and 2016, the carrying amount of lPM was nil. 

The shares held by the Company in lPM would have been pledged to Investec Bank limited in the event that there 
was any drawdown of the facility amounting to uSD13,000,000 which was entered into between the Company and 
Investec Bank limited in 2014. This facility expired on 18 March 2016 without any amounts having been drawndown.
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8. Financial assets at Fair ValUe thrOUGh PrOFit Or lOss (continued)
Based on the information above, there are no other significant assumptions used by the Company in valuing the 
level 3 instruments for which a reasonable possible change thereto would have a significant impact on the fair 
value of such instruments.

9. BOrrOwinGs

2016 2015
  UsD uSD

loan from Sanlam Capital Markets 4,500,000 –

Pursuant to the senior facility agreement dated 23 March 2016, interest accrues at a base rate of three months 
lIBOR for uS Dollar plus a margin. The undrawn amount as at 31 December 2016 was uSD5,500,000. The interest 
payable on the loan at 31 December 2016 was uSD856 (2015: uSDnil). The facility matures on 30 June 2017. 
Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to uSD211,612 (year ended 31 December 2015: 
nil). 

10. aDVisOrY Fees
Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company and Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary 
limited (the “Advisor”), the Company is required to pay annual advisory fees of 1.75% on the aggregate of the 
Company’s underlying property asset values to the Advisor. The advisory fees incurred for 2016 were uSD2,642,011 
(2015: uSD2,677,442) and uSD668,300 was payable at 31 December 2016 (2015: uSD670,920).

11. Other PaYaBles anD accrUals

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Professional fees payable 6,420 5,045
Accounting fees payable 15,280 14,250
Directors’ fees payable 35,908 39,875
Other payables 19,222 28,027

76,830 87,197

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of six months.

12. class a, class B anD class c shares
The following classes of shares were in issue at 31 December 2016:

•	Class A – 16,636,409 shares

•	Class B – 2,000,000 shares

•	Class C – 100 shares

Class A 

Class A shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and are held by various investors. Class A shares 
confer upon the holders thereof the following rights, obligations and restrictions:

1.  The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;

2. Each Class A share represents one vote;

3.  The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and 
the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius;

4.  If the Gross Asset Value of the Company is less than uSD750 million on the Company Reference Date (being 
31 December 2020), then each Class A Shareholder will have the right to elect to have their shareholding 
repurchased by the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution of the Company;

5. Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company.
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Class B

Class B shares shall, at all times, be held by the advisor of the Company or by the Company. Class B shares confer 
upon the holders thereof the following rights:

1.  The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;

2.  Class B shares have at all times voting rights not less than 10% of the aggregate voting rights of all the shares 
on all matters except those matters solely affecting the Class A shares;

3.  The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and 
the Companies Act, 2001 of Mauritius.

  As per the Company’s Constitution, the holder of the Class B shares has the right to an additional dividend 
subject to certain conditions being met. There was no additional dividend reserve for the year ended  
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. 

The net assets attributable to the Class B shareholder are made up as follows:

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Additional dividend reserve – –
Other net assets 11,525,066 11,591,869

Total net assets 11,525,066 11,591,869

4. The Class B shares shall be redeemable at the option of the Company in the circumstances which entitle the 
Company (acting on the instructions of Class A Shareholders) to terminate the Advisory Agreement and have 
the obligation to acquire those shares. Should the Advisor terminate the Advisory Agreement, the Company or 
replacement Advisor would be obliged to acquire the Class B Shares.

5. Participate in the termination and winding up of the Company.

Class C

Class C Shares are categorised as a liability instrument because of the contractual obligation contained in the 
advisory agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the holder of the Class C Shares.

Class C shares shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company.

1. Class C shares do not participate in any distributions;

2. Class C shares are non-voting;

3. Class C Shares are only redeemable if the advisory agreement is terminated and should be issued to the 
replacement Advisor; 

4. On winding up, the Class C shareholder will be only entitled to the subscription price thereof.

The Class A, Class B are measured at their nAV based on the Company’s Constitution, being that the fund is 
only able to redeem the shares at their share of the nAV. Class C shares is entitled to only its par value at time 
of liquidation. The fair value measurement is therefore considered a level 3 recurring valuation.

13. PrOFessiOnal Fees

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Professional fees 131,579 89,995
Insurance fees 20,890 49,299
Secretarial and registry fees 26,000 26,000
Commitment fees 108,981 102,219
legal fees 6,644 64,088

294,094 331,601
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14. DirectOrs’ Fees
Pursuant to the directors’ service agreement between the Company and the directors, directors are entitled to 
directors’ fees for their attendance at various meetings plus a quarterly retainer. Total directors’ fees for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 were uSD107,350 (2015: uSD121,964).

Pursuant to the Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) Service Agreement between the Company and 
the ARMC members, ARMC members are entitled to fees for their attendance at various meetings. Total ARMC 
member fees for the year ended 31 December 2016 were uSD22,000 (2015: uSD21,000).

Pursuant to the Investment Committee (“IC”) Service Agreement between the Company and the IC members,  
IC members are entitled to fees for their attendance at various meetings. There were no IC meetings during the  
year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: uSD7,000).

15. chanGe in net assets attriBUtaBle Per share
Change in net assets attributable per share is calculated for Class A and Class B separately to take into consideration 
the additional dividend to which the Class B shareholder is entitled to. 

The change in net assets attributable per share is calculated as follows:

Class A – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class A from operations plus any adjustment as 
disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to shareholders by the number of Class A shares 
in issue at year-end.

Class B – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class B from operations, adjusted to add back the 
additional dividend and any adjustment as disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to 
shareholders, by the number of Class B shares in issue at year-end.

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Decrease in net assets attributable to Class A from operations (555,681) (4,447,057)
Re-allocation of additional dividend reversed – 61,122

Change in net assets attributable to Class A (555,681) (4,385,935)

number of Class A shares at 31 December 16,636,409 16,636,409
Change in net assets attributable to Class A per share (0.0334) (0.2637)
Decrease in net assets attributable to Class B from operations (66,803) (534,617)
Additional dividend paid – (1,032,569)
Reversal of additional dividend reserve – (68,470)
Re-allocation of additional dividend reversed – 7,348

Change in net assets attributable to Class B (66,803) (1,628,308)

number of Class B shares at 31 December 2,000,000 2,000,000
Change in net assets attributable to Class B per share (0.0334) (0.8142)
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16.  relateD PartY DisclOsUres 
During the year under review, the Company had the following transactions and balances with related parties:

2016 2015
UsD uSD

sanlam africa real estate advisor Proprietary limited
(shareholder and advisor)
Advisory fees payable 668,300 670,920 

Advisory fees for the year 2,642,011 2,677,442 

Joint venture – accra mall (mauritius) limited
loan receivable 9,506,733 8,469,476
Interest receivable on loan 1,053,072 1,165,922

Receivables at 31 December 10,559,805 9,635,398

Interest income for the year 886,908 629,971

Refer to note 6 for terms and conditions of loan receivables.

subsidiary – amani Place Properties limited
loan receivable 8,161,477 14,608,985
Interest receivable on loan 56,724 329,790
Receivables at 31 December 8,218,201 14,938,775

Interest income for the year 203,254 249,151

Refer to note 6 for term and conditions of loans and advances.

subsidiary – lousol Properties mauritius
loan receivable 18,626,460 21,095,825
Interest receivable on loan 1,311,069 614,150
Other receivable 348,793 290,289

Receivables at 31 December 20,286,322 22,000,264

Interest income for the year 696 919 581 738

Refer to note 6 for terms and conditions of loans and advances.  
Other receivable relates to expenses paid on behalf of the subsidiary.  
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and receivable on demand.

administrator – intercontinental trust limited (“itl”)
Payable to ITl at 31 December 22,017 19,511

Fees attributable to ITl for the year 111,647 106,871

Directors’ remuneration – short term
Directors’ fees for the year 107,350 121,964

Directors’ fees payable at 31 December 35,908 39,875

indirect shareholder – sanlam capital markets limited (“scm”)
SCM has advanced a loan to the Company. Both companies are part of the 
Sanlam limited Group, SCM also holds shares in the Company.

Interest expense for the year 211,612 –
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16.  relateD PartY DisclOsUres (continued)
terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Other than a guarantee (refer to note 20) in respect of the finance provided to lousol Properties limited, there 
have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 
31 December 2016, the Company has recorded an impairment of receivables amounting to uSD10,000 owed by 
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited, a related party (2015: uSD30,951). The Company has also recorded an impairment 
of loan receivable of uSD2,819,365 owed by lousol Properties Mauritius (2015: uSD2,788,685). This assessment 
is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in 
which the related parties operate.

transactions with key management personnel

Gregory Alexander Chalmers is also a director of the Advisor.

Peter John Cook resigned as a director of Sanlam Capital Markets on 31 March 2016 and as a director of the 
Company on 1 June 2016. Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe and Jacobus Petrus Möller are still directors 
of Sanlam Capital Markets.

Yan Chong ng Cheng Hin is a director of Intercontinental Trust limited, the Company’s Administrator and Company 
Secretary.

All transactions were entered into in the normal course of business. The Company does not have any employees 
and the day-to-day administration of the Company is outsourced to the Administrator and the Advisor in terms of 
the Administration Services and Advisory Agreements respectively.

17. Financial risK anD manaGement OBJectiVes anD POlicies 
The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the 
Company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring 
of risks, subject to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Company’s 
continuing profitability.

risk management structure

The Board of Directors of the Company has set up an Audit and Risk Management Committee (the “Committee”) to 
assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

•	 The safeguarding of the Company’s assets; 

•	 The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls;

•	 The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;

•	 The qualification, independence, performance and fees of the External Auditors of the Company;

•	 The Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; 

•	An assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the Company’s 
Advisor; and

•	An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and investee 
companies

risk measurement and reporting system

The Committee will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying 
reports to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding the 
Company’s results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval by, 
the Board of Directors.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on limits established by the Board of 
Directors. These limits reflect the business strategy including the risk that the Company is willing to accept and the 
market environment of the Company. In addition, the Company monitors and measures the overall risk in relation to 
the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities.
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new transaction approval

As per the Company’s Constitution, the Company also has an Investment Committee (“IC”). The IC assesses the 
risk/return profile of proposed investments before recommendation to the Board of Directors. All new transactions 
need to be recommended by the IC before being considered by the Board of Directors for final approval.

Financial risk factors

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk and 
interest rate risk), property income and valuation risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s 
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

market risk 

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying investee companies are predominantly 
denominated in uSD which is the Company’s functional currency and the Company is therefore not materially 
exposed to any foreign currency risk.

However, within the investee companies, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying investments as 
these may, in some cases, derive income in the respective local currencies of the countries in which they operate. 
This income is indexed to the uSD. Fair value changes to the Company will therefore be dependent on changes 
to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments, which impact expected future uSD net annual income.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk primarily results from exposure to the volatility of interest rates. 
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is on the interest-bearing loan advanced to APPl of uSD3,829,412 
(2015: uSD10,229,412) and the interest-bearing loan given to lPM of uSD18,626,460 (2015: uSD21,095,825).

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion 
of loans and borrowings affected .With all other variables held constant, the Company’s loss before tax is affected 
through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

(loss)/profit 
before tax

increase/
decrease in

effect on 
(loss)/profit 

before tax
Year UsD  basis points UsD

2016 (622,484) +25 56,140
-25 (56,140)

2015 (4,981,674) +25 78,313 
-25 (78,313)
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17. Financial risK anD manaGement OBJectiVes anD POlicies (continued)
credit risk

The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to meet its 
obligations under a financial instrument or contract, leading to a financial loss.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was:

2016 2015
  UsD uSD

Cash at bank 5,118,507 1,911,775
loan receivable 37,347,742 45,340,208
Interest receivable 1,367,793 943,940
Other receivables 366,742 308,238
Financial guarantee 20,380,083 24,259,896

total 64,580,867 72,764,057

There is no significant credit risk associated with the cash at bank since the Company maintains bank accounts with 
large financial institutions. The Company’s main banker is Barclays Bank Mauritius limited which is a subsidiary 
of the Barclays Group (credit rating by Standard & Poor’s in 2016: A-2). As such, the directors believe exposure 
to credit risk to be minimal. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each 
financial asset in the statement of financial position. Within the investee companies, there is exposure to credit risk 
in the form of tenants in the underlying investment properties not being able to meet their lease obligations. This risk 
is mitigated through having quality investment properties that are readily lettable and actively managing delinquent 
tenants. The other financial assets have not been rated by rating agencies.

The loans and receivables, except for the loan receivable from lPM and the receivable from SOHl, are neither 
past due nor impaired for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. Refer to notes 6 and 7 for the 
impairment provisions made during the year ended 31 December 2016. 

Property income and valuation risk

Property income risk is the risk of not being able to maintain the level of net income associated with the building 
typically due to increased costs or vacancies and the risk that tenant affordability in country is impacted due to 
depreciation of the local currency.

long-term contracts are entered into as far as possible for leases. Property manager fees are usually a percentage 
of collections. Costs are controlled and measured against an approved budget process.

Property valuations are dependent upon assumptions relating to discount rates and reversionary capitalisation 
rates. Sensitivities to these variables are provided in note 8.

equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities as the result of changes in the value 
of individual shares. The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of uncertainties about future prices of 
the investments held at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Company targets underlying real estate assets with demonstrated and sustainable income streams 
with little or no development risk.

If the prices of the securities held by the Company at 31 December 2016 increased/decreased by 5% with all other 
variables held constant, this would have increased/decreased total net assets attributable to shareholders by 
approximately uSD3,421,047 (2015: uSD3,012,682).

Refer to note 8 for additional information on the equity price risk.

liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. 
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On 23 March 2016, the Company entered into a senior facility agreement with SCM for an amount of uSD10,000,000 
to meet its working capital and operational funding requirements. An amount of uSD4,500,000 has been drawn from 
the facility and an amount of uSD5,500,000 is available and undrawn as at 31 December 2016. The Company is 
currently considering alternative sources of financing. liquidity risk is managed by having adequate facilities or by 
having cash on hand. The Company has provided a guarantee (refer to note 20) in respect of the finance provided to 
lousol Properties limited.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 based on 
contractual undiscounted payments:

no stated 
maturity

Up to 3 
months

3 to12 
months total

at 31 December 2016 UsD UsD UsD UsD

Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals – 77,686 4,500,000 4,577,686
Advisory fees payable – 668,300 – 668,300
net assets attributable to shareholders 107,393,016 – – 107,393,016

107,393,016 745,986 4,500,000 112,639,002 

At 31 December 2015
Financial liabilities
Other payables and accruals – 87,197 – 87,197
Advisory fees payable – 670,920 – 670,920 
net assets attributable to shareholders 108,015,500 – – 108,015,500

108,015,500 758,117 – 108,773,617

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which 
the guarantee could be called. 

no stated
 maturity

Up to 3 
months

3 to12 
months total

at 31 December 2016 UsD UsD UsD UsD

Financial guarantee – 20,380,083 – 20,380,083

– 20,380,083 – 20,380,083

At 31 December 2015

Financial guarantee – 24,259,896 – 24,259,896 

– 24,259,896 – 24,259,896 

Capital risk management

The Company’s capital, managed at the year-end, is represented by the total net asset values of the Class A, B and 
C shares. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital. The Company actively manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

Pursuant to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius listing Rules, the Company is required to have a minimum market 
capitalisation of 20 million Mauritian rupees (approximately uSD550,000). The market capitalisation of the Company 
at 31 December 2016 was uSD64,050,174 (2015: uSD91,500,250). 

Fair values

Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate 
their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these financial instruments.
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17. Financial risK anD manaGement OBJectiVes anD POlicies (continued)

 2016 2015
Categories of financial instruments UsD uSD

Financial assets
loans and receivables1 44,200,786 48,504,161
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 68,420,934 60,253,645

  112,621,720 108,757,806

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost2 5,245,986 758,117
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 107,393,016 108,015,500

  112,639,002 108,773,617

1 Loans and receivables include: Cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, other receivables and interest receivable.
2 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include: borrowings, advisory fees payable, interest payable and other payables and accrued 

expenses.

18. DistriBUtiOns tO sharehOlDers

Dividend
Dividend 
per share

2016 UsD UsD

Final dividend paid in respect of 2015 3,194,280 0.1714
Interim dividend paid in respect of 2016 1,164,775 0.0625

Total distributions paid in 2016 4,359,055

2015
Final dividend paid in respect of 2014 1,451,776 0.0779
Interim dividend paid in respect of 2015 1,347,911 0.0723

Total distributions paid in 2015 2,799,687

19. eVents aFter rePOrtinG Date
The directors have approved a total final ordinary dividend of uSD1,118,185 to Class A and B shareholders (equivalent 
to uSD0.06 per share) which, together with the interim dividend, equates to a total dividend for the year ended 
31  December 2016 of uSD2,282,960 (equivalent to uSD0.1225 per share) (2015: uSD4,541,581, equivalent to 
uSD0.2437 per share). 

Other than that, the directors of the Company are not aware of any other events occurring between the reporting date 
and the date of approval of the financial statements that may require any adjustment or disclosure in the financial 
statements. 

20. GUarantee
During the year ended 31 December 2014, lousol Properties limited (lPl) entered in a loan Facility amounting 
to uSD25.25 million with Standard Chartered Bank nigeria limited. The loan facility amortises quarterly with the 
final repayment due 60 months from the date of the first drawdown, which was in December 2014. The Company 
acted as sponsor/guarantor to lPl to support the funding requirements of lPl with regards to the repayment of the 
loan. Accordingly, in the event of default by lPl, the Company undertook to provide financial support to repay any 
outstanding debt amount via equity injection, or a shareholder loan. 

The Board of Directors of the Company deems the probability of lPl defaulting on its debt to be sufficiently remote 
so that it does not anticipate that any material liabilities will arise from the arrangement.

nOTES TO THE FInAnCIAl STATEMEnTS 
(COnTInuED)
FOR THE YEAR EnDED 31 DECEMBER 2016



71
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

Annual Report 2016

21. Financial sUPPOrt 
The Company has signified its intention to provide its financial support to its Mauritian subsidiaries as and when 
required in order for them to meet their financial obligations as they fall due. 

22. cash anD cash eqUiValents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and cash equivalents which are short term, highly 
liquid investments. 

2016 2015
  UsD uSD

Balances with banks 5,118,507 1,911,775

5,118,507 1,911,775

23. nOtes tO the statement OF cash FlOws 

2016 2015
UsD uSD

Interest received 886,908 629,971

loan interest paid 210,756 –

Distribution to shareholders (refer to note 18) (4,359,055) (2,799,687)

24. Parent anD Ultimate Parent
The parent and ultimate parent of the Company is Sanlam limited, a company listed on the Johannesburg  
Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE DIARY

Final 2016 Date

Financial year-end 31 December 2016
Publication of abridged results for the year ended 31 December 2016 on SEM 28 March 2017
Publication of abridged results for the year ended 31 December 2016 to Press 3 April 2017
Date of declaration of dividend 28 March 2017

last day shares traded cum dividend 13 April 2017

Shares traded ex dividend 14 April 2017
Record date 18 April 2017
Dividend payment date 25 April 2017
Annual report posted on 31 May 2017
notice of Annual General Meeting posted on 31 May 2017
Annual General Meeting 22 June 2017

First qUarter 2017
Quarter ends 31 March 2017
Announcement of quarterly results 12 May 2017

secOnD qUarter 2017
Quarter ends 30 June 2017
Announcement of quarterly results 14 August 2017 (tentative)

thirD qUarter 2017
Quarter ends 30 September 2017
Announcement of quarterly results 10 november 2017 (tentative)

FOUrth qUarter 2017
Quarter ends 31 December 2017
Announcement of quarterly results 30 March 2018 (tentative)
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SHAREHOlDER InFORMATIOn

sharehOlDer analYsis
SACREIl currently has three classes of issued shares, namely Class A, Class B and Class C shares. The Class B and 
Class C shares are held by the Advisor, SAREA. The Class A shares have the right to vote on all matters except those 
matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares, the right to dividends and distributions in accordance with 
the provisions of the Constitution and the Act. Each Class A share represents one vote. The Class B shares have similar 
rights to the Class A shares but the Class B shareholders are also entitled to an Additional Dividend on the achievement 
by SACREIl of certain performance hurdles. The Additional Dividend has a ‘claw-back’ feature. The Class C share is the 
nominal uSD100 share and has no rights attached to it, apart from the return of the uSD100 in the event of the winding 
up of the Company.

substantial shareholders as at 30 april 2017
number of

 shares held

Percentage
 held of total 

shares issued share class

Sanlam life Insurance limited 3,693,870 19.82 a
Sentinel Retirement Fund 3,694,469 19.82 a
Agulhas nominees Proprietary limited for Sanlam Private 
Investments Proprietary limited 2,794,590 15.00 a
Botswana Insurance Fund Management limited 1,847,234 9.91 a
Old Mutual Investment Group SA Proprietary limited 1,847,234 9.91 a
Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary limited 2,000,000 10.73 B

sUBsiDiaries anD assOciates

name Domicile
Percentage 

held
Direct or
 indirect

Amani Place Properties limited mauritius 100 Direct
Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited mauritius 50 Direct
lousol Properties Mauritius mauritius 100 Direct
Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited mauritius 100 Direct
Accra Mall limited Ghana 47 indirect
Petrostar limited Ghana 47 indirect
Capital Properties limited tanzania 100 indirect
lousol Properties limited nigeria 100 indirect
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FACT SHEET

company name Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited 

registration number C109045 C1/GBl

registered address level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius

Year end 31 December 2016

chairman of the Board Anil Carrim Currimjee

Board of Directors Yan Chong ng Cheng Hin
Anil Carrim Currimjee
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe
Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru
Gregory Alexander Chalmers
Keith Robert Jefferis
Cyril Wong Sun Thiong
Jacobus Petrus Möller

company secretary and administrator Intercontinental Trust limited

registrar and transfer agent Intercontinental Secretarial Services limited

advisor Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary limited

legal advisors mauritius C&A law

external auditors Ernst & Young

sem listing date 16 May 2013

shares in issue A shares 16,636,409
B shares  2,000,000
C shares 100

Volume traded 497 062

Value traded 1 983 222

share price UsD High  uSD5.00
low  uSD3.80
Closing  uSD3.85

trade data
Date

Volume of 
shares traded

Value of 
shares traded

February 2016  79,440  357,480
May 2016  2,200  11,000
July 2016  39,595  178,178
August 2016  24,500  93,100
September 2016  182,800  694,640 
October 2016  1,499  5,766
December 2016  167,028  643,058

Dividend per share uSD0.0625 (paid on 5 September 2016)
uSD0.0600 (paid on 25 April 2017)

annual meeting 22 June 2017
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ABBREVIATIOnS

aml Accra Mall limited

amml Accra Mall (Mauritius) limited

aPPl Amani Place Properties limited

cPl Capital Properties limited

GaV Gross Asset Value

iFrs International Financial Reporting Standards

irr Internal Rate of Return 

lPl lousol Properties limited

lPm lousol Properties Mauritius

naV net Asset Value

PPm Private Placement Memorandum

sacreil Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited

sanlam Sanlam limited

sarea Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary limited

sem Stock Exchange of Mauritius limited

sOhl Sacreil Oddlot Holdings limited

ssa sub-Saharan Africa

UsD united States Dollars
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Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius
Registration number: C109045 C1/GBl

ISIn code: Mu0396S00004
SEM code: SARE-n-0101
SEDOl code: B979H90

(the “Company”)

nOtice is hereBY GiVen that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments 
limited will be held on 22 June 2017 at 11:00 mauritius time at c/o Intercontinental Trust limited, level 3, Alexander 
House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius.

aGenDa

1. resolution number 1

 To consider the 2016 Annual Report of the Company. 

2. resolution number 2

  To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(included in the 2016 Annual Report).

3. resolution number 3

  To re-elect the following directors, each by way of a separate vote, who accordingly retire and offer themselves for 
re-election in accordance with section 29.1.4 of the Company’s Constitution:

 3.1 Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee 

 3.2 Mr Yan Chong ng Cheng Hin

 3.3 Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe

 3.4 Mr Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru

 3.5 Mr Gregory Alexander Chalmers

 3.6 Mr Keith Robert Jefferis

 3.7 Mr Cyril Wong Sun Thiong

 3.8 Mr Jacobus Petrus Möller

4. resolution number 4

  To reappoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual Meeting.

5. resolution number 5

 To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration of the Company’s auditors.

6. resolution number 6

  Subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act, 2001, the SEM listing Rules and pursuant to, inter alia, 
the Company’s Constitution, To authorise the Board of Directors of the Company to allot and issue up to 10,000,000 
additional shares of the Company, at a price which may be determined by the directors at the time of issuing the 
shares, until this authority lapses which shall be at the next Annual General Meeting or 15 months from the date 
hereof, whichever is the earliest.

By order of the Board

intercontinental trust limited
Company Secretary

31 May 2017

Notes

Ordinary resolutions 1 to 6 will require the support of more than 50% of the total votes exercisable by members of the Company, 
present in person or by proxy to pass the resolutions.

Members entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting may appoint proxies, who need not be members, to attend and vote on 
their behalf. Instruments appointing proxy or any power of attorney should be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius no later than 24 hours before the 
meeting, being no later than 11:00 Mauritius Time, 21 June 2017, failing which the instrument of proxy or the power of attorney shall 
not be accepted.

nOTICE OF AnnuAl MEETInG OF 
SHAREHOlDERS



The Company Secretary
Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments limited
level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201
Mauritius

Dear Sir/Madam,

I/We , 

being shareholder(s) of Sanlam Africa Core Real EstateInvestments limited hereby appoint:

Mr/Mrs/Miss 

of or, failing him/her,

the chairman of the Annual Meeting as my/ our proxy to vote for me/ us at the Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on 
Thursday 22 June 2017 at 11:00 Mauritius Time at c/o Intercontinental Trust limited, level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, 
Ebene 72201, Mauritius, and at any adjournment of the meeting.

Kindly tick the appropriate boxes below:

agenda Description For against abstention

2
To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 (included in 2016 Annual Report).

3

To re-elect the following directors, each by way of a separate vote, who 
accordingly retire and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with section 
29.1.4 of the Company’s Constitution:

3.1 Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee

3.2 Mr Yan Chong ng Cheng Hin

3.3 Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe

3.4 Mr Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru

3.5 Mr Gregory Alexander Chalmers

3.6 Mr Keith Robert Jefferis

3.7 Mr Cyril Wong Sun Thiong

3.8 Mr Jacobus Petrus Möller

4
To reappoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the 
Company’s next Annual Meeting.

5
To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration of the 
Company’s auditors.

6

Subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, the SEM listing 
Rules and pursuant to inter alia the Company’s Constitution, to authorise the Board 
of Directors of the Company to allot and issue up to 10,000,000 additional shares 
of the Company, at a price which may be determined by the directors at the time 
of issuing the shares, until this authority lapses which shall be at the next Annual 
General Meeting or 15 months from the date hereof, whichever is the earliest.

consent in terms of section 327 of the mauritian companies act 2001

I/we a shareholder of the Company, hereby consents to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts, or any other documents 
pertaining to the Company at the following email address until such authority is revoked:

Email address:

I/we undertake to advise the Company within five days at its registered address of any change in my/our email address.

This consent may be revoked at any time on the provision of five days’ notice in writing to the Company.

Signed this day of 2017

Signature:

Shareholder name:

Assisted by: 

FORM OF PROXY



1.   A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy of his/her own choice 
(whether a member or not) to attend and vote on his/her behalf.

2.  Please mark in the appropriate box how you wish to vote. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will 
exercise his/her discretion as to how he/she votes.

3.  The instrument appointing a proxy or any general power of attorney shall be deposited at the Registered Office 
of the Company at c/o Intercontinental Trust limited, level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, 
Mauritius, no later than 24 hours before the meeting, failing which the instrument of proxy or the power of attorney 
shall not be treated as valid.

nOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY
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